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Chair’s Report 

We are pleased to deliver this annual report for Climate Transition Capital Acquisition 1 B.V. and we do so 
at a time of significant global change.  The world has witnessed the tragic events unfolding in Ukraine 
following Russia’s invasion. This unprecedented event will have significant ramifications in multiple areas 
of our lives and, in particular, on Europe’s focus on a transition away from fossil fuel dependency.  

It seems clear that we have reached a tipping point for the energy transition, driven by the extreme 
weather events last summer, the cost-of-living crisis ushered in by higher energy prices and inflationary 
pressures across the board and now a new strategic imperative, European security. For while the energy 
transition directly addresses climate change and lowers energy bills, it also provides energy independence.  

Notable recent announcements to accelerate the energy transition include the European Commission’s 
REPowerEU initiative, which sets out measures to deliver at least the annual equivalent of the 155 billion 
cubic metres of imports of Russian gas, ending Europe’s dependence on Russia completely by 2027.  

Indeed, REPowerEU targets a reduction in fossil gas consumption of 100 billion cubic metres by the end of 
2022, with domestic initiatives such as energy efficiency, solar rooftops and heat pumps playing a major 
role in this. An example of the simple efficacy of some of these measures is the estimate that reducing 
thermostats in European homes and workplaces by just one degree would reduce gas imports by 10 billion 
cubic metres per annum, displacing over 6% of Russian gas imports.  

While the fundamentals of the energy transition become stronger and more urgent with each new 
challenge we face - and the need for new capital accelerates - the equity markets are held in a period of 
uncertainty of an unknowable duration.  

After a difficult adjustment to a new interest rate cycle, many investors are now waiting on the sidelines 
as they digest daily headlines and assess second order impacts on their portfolios. New issuance has 
paused with a busy pre-Easter IPO schedule deferred to pre-summer or later this year, depending on how 
geopolitical events unfold. 

Although capital market conditions are currently challenging, CTC’s set of energy transition opportunities 
looks ever more compelling. The team has broad and deep engagement with high-quality climate leaders 
and has calibrated its focus on those companies most suited to the present challenges, real businesses 
that provide concrete energy transition solutions. 

While the energy transition is a multi-decadal growth story and the SPAC transaction is most suited to high 
growth companies, the CTC team is prioritising attractive companies that have existing revenues and 
profitability, as well as long term growth potential. 

I believe that CTC will capitalise on the experience, skills and reach of the team, the support of its advisers, 
its investor relationships and its climate mission and I look forward to a successful combination with a 
climate transition leader at the appropriate time. 

 

 

Marieke Bax 

Chair, Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V.  
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Directors’ Report 

OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY AND THE GROUP 

Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. (“CTCA1” or the “Company”) is a special purpose acquisition 
company (SPAC) incorporated by Climate Transition Capital Sponsor I LLP (the “Sponsor”) for the purpose 
of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganisation or similar 
business combination with or acquisition of a target business or entity (a “Business Combination”). 

On 29 June 2021 the Company successfully completed a private placement of 19,000,000 “Units”, each 
entitling the holder to one Ordinary Share and one-third of a Warrant, at a price of €10.00 per Unit raising 
€190 million (the “Offering”). The resulting Units were admitted to listing and trading on Euronext 
Amsterdam. During a “stabilisation period” which ended on the 8 July 2021, 39,000 Units were 
repurchased then cancelled leaving issued Units of 18,961,000 (entitling the holders to 18,961,000 
Ordinary Shares and 6,320,333 Warrants). On 4 August 2021, 35 calendar days after the first day of trading, 
the Units split into Ordinary Shares and Warrants which have been separately listed and traded on 
Euronext Amsterdam since. 

100% of the proceeds of the Offering plus €2 million to cover up to €2 million of negative interest (the 
“Negative Interest Cover”) have been put into a bank account opened by Stichting Climate Transition 
Capital Escrow (the “Foundation”) and held with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. in the Netherlands (the “Escrow 
Account”). These amounts will only be released in accordance with the terms of an escrow agreement, 
the key terms of which are summarised below. 

• In the event of a Business Combination, the Company may use all or a substantial part of the 
amounts held in the Escrow Account to:  
o pay the consideration due for the Business Combination, the transaction costs associated with 

the Business Combination and additional Offering underwriting fees due upon completion of a 
Business Combination; 

o repurchase Ordinary Shares in accordance with share repurchase arrangements detailed in the 
Prospectus (see below); 

o the Company may apply the balance of the cash, if any, released from the Escrow Account for 
general corporate purposes of the target business, including for maintenance or expansion of 
operations thereof. 

• In the event no Business Combination completes within 24 months from the settlement date of 2 
July 2021 (the “Business Combination Deadline”), the Company will use the amounts held in the 
Escrow Account (minus any negative interest due in excess of €2 million) to repurchase Ordinary 
Shares under the Share Repurchase Arrangement and otherwise, for those who do not elect to 
participate in the Share Repurchase Arrangement, to distribute in accordance with the Liquidation 
Waterfall. 

The Foundation is ultimately controlled by the Company and is therefore its subsidiary.  The Company and 
the Foundation together comprise the “Group”.  

More information about the Company, including the Company's Initial Public Offering Prospectus dated 
23 June 2021 (the "Prospectus"), which was approved by the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets, 
the AFM, can be found on the Climate Transition Capital website: 
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/ 

  

https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/
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CLIMATE IMPACT FRAMEWORK 

CTCA1 intends to mobilise capital for a disruptive climate transition business that accelerates net zero in 
the hard-to-abate sectors of energy, mobility and industry. 

Figure 1. Key components of CTCA1’s climate impact framework 

1. Theory of change 2. Screening and due diligence 3. Reporting considerations 

To achieve these objectives, CTCA1’s theory of change maps out the climate impact value chain and forms 
the backbone of its impact framework. 

Figure 2. High-level summary of CTCA1’s theory of change 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

The screening process scores target companies on their disruptive potential against CTCA1’s six intended 
climate outcomes: 

1. Reduced Greenhouse Gas or ‘GHG’ emissions 
2. Optimise use of materials 
3. Optimise energy production & storage 
4. Transition to a circular economy 
5. Reduce fossil fuel use 
6. Accelerate sustainability 

CTCA1’s due diligence process includes an assessment of climate impact and an operational and ESG 
review. The process enables CTCA1 to gauge the size and duration of the climate impact opportunity and 
verify a target business’ alignment with the EU taxonomy. 

Theory of change and intended impact outcomes 

Theory of change  

CTCA1’s theory of change maps out the impact value chain and provides the backbone of the climate 
impact framework. It describes how CTCA1’s activities can lead to measurable climate outcomes, aligning 
with the climate change mitigation objectives of the EU taxonomy and accelerating the transition to net 
zero in hard-to-abate sectors. 

  

Accelerate climate 
outcomes and impacts 

Identify disruptive climate 
pioneers in target sectors 

Identify tipping point 
conditions  

Mobilize capital towards 
climate pioneers    
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Figure 3. CTCA1’s theory of change 
      

ORGANISATION ACTIVITIES OUTPUTS OUTCOMES IMPACT 

CTC team industry 
experience across 

focus sectors 

Provide fundraising 
support across asset 

classes 

Disruptive climate 
companies access 

catalytic investment 

Demonstrate 
profitable disruptive 
climate investment 

1. Reduced GHG 
emissions 

Achieving 
emissions 

reductions in 
hard-to-abate 

sectors 

Access and 
relationships with 

high potential 
companies 

Assess the market 
for underinvested 

opportunities 

Climate companies 
access higher quality 

management and 
resources required 
for rapid scale-up 

Support capital 
formation in climate 
solutions for hard-to 

abate sectors 

2. Optimise use of 
materials 

Deep understanding 
of climate impact 

market and tipping 
point conditions 

Identification and 
screening of target 

companies in hard to 
abate sectors 

Hard-to-abate 
sectors have 

increased access to 
climate solutions 

Achieve competitive 
risk-adjusted returns 

3. Optimise energy 
production & 

storage 

Deep expertise in 
climate impact, 

investment & capital 
formation 

Carry out operational 
and commercial DD 
of target companies 

 
Disruptive business 
models, category 

leaders 

4. Transition to a 
circular economy 

 

 

Assess company 
alignment with CTC 
impact framework 
and EU taxonomy 

 
Support a transition 

to a net-zero 
emissions economy 

5. Reduce fossil fuel 
use 

 

    
6. Accelerate 
environmental 
sustainability 

 
 

Intended impact outcomes 

CTCA1 is focused on three investment areas, clean energy, mobility and industry, which align well with its 
intended climate outcomes.  

Figure 4. Climate impact outcomes 

 OUTCOME 1 OUTCOME 2 OUTCOME 3 OUTCOME 4 OUTCOME 5 OUTCOME 6 

CTC investment 
areas 

Reduced GHG 
emissions 

Optimise use of 
materials 

Optimise energy 
production & 

storage 

Transition to a 
circular economy 

Reduce fossil fuel 
use 

Accelerate 
environmental 
sustainability 

Clean energy       

Green mobility       

Decarbonising 
industry       

CTCA1’s screening and due diligence process has been designed to enable the identification of high-
potential opportunities that support specific outcomes while avoiding significant harm of other 
environmental and social issues (Do No Significant Harm or ‘DNSH’). 

As a SPAC focussed on the climate transition, CTCA1 also assesses target businesses for alignment with the 
EU taxonomy and maps climate impact outcomes to specific UN Sustainable Development Goals including 
climate action (goal 13), industry innovation and infrastructure (goal 9) and responsible consumption and 
production (goal 12). 
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Figure 5. Alignment with EU taxonomy and SDGs 
 

CTCA1 is aligned with EU taxonomy  CTCA1 is aligned with specific SDGs 
     

 

Climate change 
mitigation 

 
 

Transition to a 
circular economy 

     

 
Climate change 

adaptation 
 

 

Pollution prevention 
and control 

     

 
Sustainable & 

protection of water & 
marine resources 

 
 

Protection and 
restoration of 

biodiversity and 
ecosystems 

     
 

 

 

Screening and due diligence 

CTCA1 has developed a screening and due diligence framework to identify target companies. The outputs 
of the screening and due diligence processes support CTCA1’s validation of the target business’ disruptive 
potential against one or more of the intended climate outcomes. 

Figure 6. CTCA1’s screening and due diligence processes 
 
1. Initial screening Disruptive potential Taxonomy alignment 

 The screening process is aimed to identify 
companies that will have disruptive potential 
against one of CTC’s six target climate outcomes and 
assessing potential for contribution to the EU 
Taxonomy  

  

Assess the disruptive 
climate potential of an 
investment against CTC’s 
objectives 

Assess whether a company is 
aligned with the EU 
Taxonomy environmental 
objectives 

      

2. Due diligence  Climate Impact Operational  
 Companies that pass the initial screening process 

will then undergo a climate impact and operational 
Due Diligence. This will assess their climate impact 
potential and validate alignment with EU Taxonomy  

  To assess climate impact 
potential and its duration 

To assess operational risks 
and validate the target 
company will align with EU 
Taxonomy  

Screen 1: disruptive potential 

The first stage of the screening process will assess target companies against CTCA1’s six climate outcome 
objectives.  

Figure 7. CTCA1’s climate outcome scoring requirements 

 
To be considered as a potential target for 
CTC, the company must: 
 
1. Have positively disruptive climate 

potential against at least one of CTC’s 
six climate impact outcomes (at least 
one ++ score) 
 

2. Do no significant harm to any of the 
other climate impact outcomes (no xx 
scores) 
 

3. Provide risk mitigation approach for all 
potential negative impacts (all x 
scores must include mitigating action) 

   

 

 

  

 

 



 

7  

Screen 2: EU taxonomy alignment 

The second stage of the screening will assess the target company’s alignment to the EU taxonomy. 

Taxonomy screening steps 
  

Sample taxonomy screening template 

 
Identify which activities of the target company are covered 
by the financial product under consideration and break down 
by eligible taxonomy sector.  
 
For each eligible sector, carry out the following checks: 

1. Does the activity have the potential to make a 
substantial contribution to one of the EU Taxonomy’s 
six environmental objectives? 
 

2. Does the company or issuer meet any minimum 
thresholds or screening criteria, e.g. electricity 
generation with lifecycle carbon of less that 
100gCO2e/kWh? 

 
3. Does the company meet DNSH criteria against each of 

the other objectives? 
 
Note: alignment with minimum social safeguards is assessed 
in due diligence and not at the screening stage. 
 

 Taxonomy screening [Sector 1] [Sector 2) 

Taxonomy objective 
being assessed 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Relevant NACE Sector 
[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Estimated percentage 
of company activities 
under this sector 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Does the company 
meet relevant 
minimum thresholds? 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Does the company 
meet relevant 
minimum thresholds? 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

 

Taxonomy DNSH checks 

Climate change 
mitigation 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Climate change 
adaptation 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Sustainable and 
protection of water and 
marine resources 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Transition to a circular 
economy 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Pollution prevention 
and control 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

Protection and 
restoration of 
biodiversity and 
ecosystems 

[insert 
response] 

[insert 
response] 

 

 

EU Taxonomy alignment rating 

 N/A Activity not covered by the taxonomy 

 Red 
Activity covered by taxonomy 

Fails to meet threshold or DNSH 

 Amber 
Activity covered by taxonomy   

Insufficient evidence to validate  
threshold or DNSH 

 Green 
Activity covered by criteria   

Meets thresholds and DNSH criteria 
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Screen 3: climate impact due diligence 

The climate impact due diligence assesses the size and duration of the opportunity to accelerate the 
transition to net zero. 

Figure 8. Climate impact due diligence process 

 

 Process step Question Guidance 

Q
ua

nt
ify

 th
e 

sc
al

e 
of

 th
e 

gr
ee

n 
op

p
or

tu
ni

ty
 

 

1 
Identify disrupted 
market 

• Which hard to abate 
(sub)sector is the company 
seeking to disrupt? 

• What market(s)/region(s) is the 
company operating in? 

• Identify the (sub)sector the company’s 
solution is seeking to disrupt.  Identify 
the company’s market of operations. 

• Identify sector classifications (for 
taxonomy alignment) 

2 
Alignment with 
CTCA1 green  
outcomes 

• Which of CTCA1’s six climate 
outcomes is the company’s 
solution seeking to address?   

• What is its primary climate 
KPI? 

• Review the outcome of the screening 
process to determine the company’s 
climate outcome(s), and corresponding 
metric(s) to ensure alignment with 
CTCA1 objectives 

3 
EU Taxonomy 
validation 

• Does the company meet 
thresholds required for 
substantial contribution to 
taxonomy objectives?   

• What percentage of the 
company’s activities are 
taxonomy-aligned? 

• Based on sector classifications 
(identified in step 1), validate that the 
business meets relevant TSC 
thresholds  

• Calculate the percentage of the 
company’s activities that are 
taxonomy-aligned (assuming DNSH 
criteria met after next phase of DD) 

4 
Quantify negative 
climate impact 
(baseline) 

• What is this (sub)sector’s 
negative climate impact in 
this market? 

• In the market of operations, what is the 
negative climate impact the company’s 
solution is targeting? 

5 
Identify the 
company’s impact 
objective 

• How is the company aiming 
to disrupt the negative impact 
of the sector? 

• Of the disrupted (sub)sector’s negative 
impact, describe what the company’s 
solution is trying to disrupt 

6 
Calculate the 
company’s 
impact objective 

• With 100% 
adoption/deployment, what 
would be the positive green 
impact of the company’s 
solution? 

• Use best available data to quantify the 
climate opportunity 

• The climate opportunity equates to full 
(100%) and effective 
adoption/deployment of the company’s 
solution 

7 
Impact duration 
assessment 

• Does the company have 
lasting disruptive potential? 

• Quantify expected climate impacts 
minimum 15 years after investment, 
based on Paris-aligned emissions 
trajectories of disrupted sector 

  

Attribution to CTC 
What proportion of the positive 
climate impact is attributable to the 
CTCA1 investment activity? 

Approach to impact attribution dependent on 
the nature of the investment activity 

 

 
  

 



 

9  

 
Impact reporting considerations 

Key performance indicators 

At the company level, CTCA1 tracks performance against the six climate outcomes using high level KPIs 
and EU taxonomy disclosure requirements.  

Figure 9. Reporting climate impact outcomes 

 
CTCA1’s 6 

climate impact 
outcomes 

 CTCA1 sample KPIs 

 

EU taxonomy disclosure requirements 

        

Reduced GHG 
emissions 

 
 

  
Disclosure 
requirements 

General 
Financial 
products 

Sustainable 
Financial 
products 

NFRD 
companies 

Optimise use of 
materials 

Emissions 
mitigated 

tCO2eq 
Taxonomy 
alignment total 
(turnover) 

Comply or 
explain 

Must comply Must comply 

Optimise energy 
production & 
storage 

Renewable 
energy 
generated 

MWh 
Taxonomy 
alignment 
total (capex) 

Comply or 
explain 

Must comply Must comply 

Transition to a 
circular economy 

Energy 
savings 

MWh 

Alignment 
against each of 
the six taxonomy 
objectives 

Comply or 
explain 

Must comply Recommended 

Reduce fossil fuel 
use 

Sustainable 
goods 
produced 

tonnes 

Alignment by 
“own”, 
“enabling”, and 
“transition” 
objectives 

Comply or 
explain 

Must comply Recommended 

Accelerate 
environmental 
sustainability 

  
Potential 
alignment 

Comply or 
explain 

Must comply N/A 
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted, and other global health events could result, in widespread health 
crises that impact economies globally. Governments have implemented measures to minimise the spread 
of COVID-19, including regional and national lockdowns, travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, curfews 
and business closures and operational restrictions. 

The ongoing Russo-Ukrainian conflict, with the military invasion by Russia of Ukraine in February 2022, has 
also resulted in significant volatility and uncertainty in the financial and energy markets and could further 
adversely affect economies and markets internationally, including throughout Europe.  

The extent to which either the Russo-Ukrainian conflict or COVID-19 impacts the search for a Business 
Combination will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, 
including the emergence of new information, further escalation of the conflict in Ukraine and international 
response, new strains of the virus or developments concerning the spread or severity of COVID-19. If the 
military invasion of Ukraine continues or escalates, actions to contain COVID-19 or other disruptive events 
continue or become worse within the period from the date of this Annual Report until the Business 
Combination Deadline, the Company’s ability to complete a Business Combination, or the operations of a 
target business with which the Company ultimately completes a Business Combination, may be materially 
adversely affected.  

Prior to a Business Combination, the Company will, in evaluating the risks associated with a target 
business, seek (insofar as is possible) to take account of the financial and operational performance and 
resilience of such target business in light of the Russo-Ukrainian conflict and COVID-19 pandemic. The 
Company cannot, however, offer any assurance that a business which has previously performed well 
would not be materially and adversely affected by the continuance or further escalation of the conflict in 
Ukraine, ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, or other global events.  

Furthermore, the Company may be unable to complete a Business Combination if continued concerns 
relating to COVID-19 or other disruptive events restrict travel or limit the ability to have meetings or 
conduct due diligence, with potential business targets, if sellers and services providers are unavailable to 
negotiate and complete a transaction in a timely manner, or if a prolonged economic downturn ensues.  

The Company has so far been able to operate effectively, meeting with potential targets and advisors or 
service providers by way of video conferencing and in-person where possible.  

With international COVID-19 travel restrictions in place, the Directors who are based outside of the 
Netherlands have been unable to travel and meet in person for Board meetings. Board meetings have so 
far been chaired from the Netherlands, with the Dutch resident Directors also participating from the 
Netherlands but have taken place virtually by video conference to enable overseas Directors to participate. 
The Directors regularly review the position. As soon as reasonably practicable following the relaxation of 
travel and work from home restrictions and dependent on developments in the spread of COVID-19 
variants, Board meetings will be held in person in the Netherlands in accordance with the Board Rules (as 
summarised in the Corporate Governance Report).  
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The Board is responsible for maintaining effective risk management and regularly reviews the Company’s 
internal financial, compliance and operational processes and controls to ensure these are operating 
properly and will make recommendations as appropriate. The Company's risk management objectives and 
policies as disclosed in the Prospectus have been reviewed to take account of the Company’s current 
situation and activities and ensure that appropriate risk mitigation measures are implemented to avoid or 
mitigate risks whilst facilitating the Company’s strategic and commercial objectives. In the period from 29 
April 2021 to 31 December 2021, no material issues have been identified in the Company’s risk 
management policies and controls. 

In accordance with Best Practice Provision 1.4.3 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, the Company’s 
Board of Directors is of the opinion that to the best of its knowledge:  

• the report provides sufficient insights into any failings in the effectiveness of the internal risk 
management and control systems;  

• the aforementioned systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial reporting does not 
contain any material inaccuracies;  

• based on the current state of affairs of the Company, it is justified that the financial reporting is 
prepared on a going concern basis; and  

• the report states those material risks and uncertainties that are relevant to the expectation of the 
Company’s continuity for the period of twelve months after the preparation of the report. 

 
Set out below is a summary of key risks that, alone or in combination with other events or circumstances, 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations 
and prospects. In making the selection, the Company has considered circumstances such as the probability 
of the risk materialising, the potential impact which the materialisation of the risk could have on the 
Company’s business, financial condition and prospects, and the attention that management would, on the 
basis of current expectations, have to devote to these risks if they were to materialise.  

Although the Company believes that the risks and uncertainties described below are the material risks and 
uncertainties concerning the Company, they are not the only risks and uncertainties relating to the 
Company. Other risks, events, facts or circumstances not presently known to the Company, or that the 
Company currently deems to be immaterial could, individually or cumulatively, prove to be important and 
may have a significant negative impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. In particular, the Company has not identified its actual operational business yet, 
which is detrimental to the Company’s ability to present all risk factors specific to the business or industry 
in which the Company will become active following the Business Combination. 

Strategic Risks Detail  Likelihood Impact  Measures 

Risk of not 
identifying or 
completing a 
Business 
Combination 

 

The Company has a period of 24 
months within which to 
complete a Business 
Combination. There is no 
assurance that the Company 
will identify or complete a 
suitable Business Combination 
opportunity by the Business 
Combination Deadline, which 
could result in a loss of part or 
all of the Ordinary 
Shareholders’ investment. 

Medium High The Company has implemented 
comprehensive opportunity screening and 
investment processes with detailed 
investment criteria. Over 400 opportunities 
have been identified, with those screened 
and a shortlist of specific targets identified for 
further evaluation (including commercial and 
operational due diligence) and discussion 
with the Company’s Investment Committee 
based on qualitative and quantitative 
requirements. The Company believes it is well 
positioned to identify and agree a Business 
Combination transaction for shareholder 
approval.  
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Dependency of 
shareholder 
returns on a 
single target 
business   

The Company intends to 
complete the Business 
Combination with a single 
target business or company, 
meaning the Company’s 
operations may depend on a 
single business or company that 
is likely to operate in a non-
diverse industry or segment of 
an industry. This lack of 
diversification may materially 
negatively impact the 
Company’s operations and 
profitability. 

Medium High  As part of the Company’s opportunity 
screening and investment criteria, the 
Company is focussed on identifying 
opportunities which have a clear route to 
long-term shareholder value creation. There 
can be no assurance, however, that after the 
Business Combination the target business will 
perform in accordance with business plan 
expectations or that the Company will have 
any influence over the target business or be 
able to propose effective operational and 
commercial strategies or other improvement 
programmes for any target business in which 
the Company acquires a stake and, to the 
extent that such strategies are proposed, 
there can be no assurance they will be 
implemented effectively. 

 
Operational 
Risks 

Detail  Likelihood Impact  Measures 

Dependency on 
a small group of 
individuals 

The Company’s ability to 
successfully complete the 
Business Combination and to be 
successful thereafter is 
dependent upon, inter alia, a 
small group of individuals 

High Low The Company has a one-tier board, which 
comprises highly experienced individuals with 
complementary skillsets and expertise, 
including executive directors (responsible for 
the Company’s day-to-day management) and 
non-executive directors, who supervise and 
advise the executive directors. All of the 
directors have a duty to the Company to 
properly perform the duties assigned by each 
member and to act in the Company’s 
corporate interests. This is further mitigated 
through the implementation of, and 
compliance with, comprehensive corporate 
governance procedures and controls. 

Impact of 
conflict in 
Ukraine and 
COVID-19 
pandemic 

 

The Company’s search for a 
target business may be 
adversely impacted by the 
conflict in Ukraine, the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic and other adverse 
global events 

Medium Medium Please refer to the Business Environment 
Report (p.10 above). 

Directors’ time 
commitments 

Directors may allocate their 
time to other businesses 
leading to potential conflicts of 
interest in their determination 
as to how much time to devote 
to the Company’s affairs, which 
could have a negative impact 
on the Company’s ability to 
complete a Business 
Combination and its operations 
following the Business 
Combination. 

Low Low The Directors are a group of highly 
experienced individuals, including three 
executive directors (Joris Rademakers, Robin 
Duggan and David Buzby) who are focussed 
on the day-to-day management of the 
Company and the identification of a target 
business and agreement a Business 
Combination. The Company is supported by 
Climate Transition Capital (the Promoter) and 
Climate Real Impact Solutions (the Strategic 
Partner) together with suitably experienced 
advisors and a consultancy agreement in 
place with Climate Transition Capital LLP for 
administrative, IT and support services, to 
ensure that the Company has sufficient 
resources to complete a Business 
Combination. 
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Financial & 
Legal Risks 

Detail  Likelihood Impact  Measures 

Negative 
interest rates 

 

Any negative interest that the 
Company will have to pay on 
the proceeds of the Offering 
that are held in the Escrow 
Account prior to the Business 
Combination in excess of €2 
million decreases the amounts 
available for investment in a 
target business and amounts 
available to shareholders if they 
are entitled to them 

Medium  High The Escrow Account is managed by Intertrust 
with funds deposited with ABN AMRO. The 
Company is charged negative interest, with 
the current interest rate charged by ABN 
AMRO being -0.58%. Interest rates continue 
to be negative, but the Company expects that 
this may end during 2022 based on recent 
ECB policy decisions. 

Budget The Company has a fixed 
budget committed by the 
Sponsor to cover running costs 
related to the Business 
Combination, such as legal, 
financial and tax due diligence 
costs, costs related to the share 
purchase agreement and the 
BC-EGM, together with Director 
remuneration and salary costs.  

Low Low Current expenses for the period to date are 
lower than the budget. The Company does 
not currently expect to exceed the total 
available budget, having negotiated low fixed 
fee arrangements with advisors for ongoing 
support. The Company also has the ability to 
raise additional capital in the event that the 
budget is exceeded. 

Compliance 
with laws 

The Company is obliged to 
comply with Dutch and EU 
legislation, including financial 
reporting, MAR and the Dutch 
Corporate Governance Code. 

Low  Low The Company has implemented robust 
policies and procedures and works closely 
with its experienced legal and financial 
advisors to ensure compliance. 

Third Party 
Claims 

The Company is not party to 
any claims by third parties but 
may be in the future. 

Low High There are no third-party claims, and the 
Company does not currently expect any such 
claims in the near future given the nature of 
the Company’s business. In the event of a 
claim, the Company would engage its 
external legal counsel to provide legal 
support. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

• Proceeds from the issue of Units €189.6m 
• Proceeds from issue of Sponsor Warrants €10.5m 
• Financial liability relating to Ordinary Shares at 31 December 2021 €181.5m 
• Financial liability relating to Warrants at 31 December 2021 €7.9m 
• Financial liability relating to Sponsor Warrants at 31 December 2021 €10.7m 
• Closing price of Ordinary Shares on 31 December 2021 €9.73 
• Expenditure since the Offering €6.4m 
• Net finance costs in the period (mainly non-cash) €3.9m 

Costs 

As part of the Offering the Sponsor committed capital of €10.5 million via the purchase of Sponsor 
Warrants at a price of €1.50 each.  €2 million of this amount (the Negative Interest Cover) will be used to 
cover up to €2 million of negative interest on the Escrow Account deposit.  The balance will be used to 
cover costs related to the setup, Offering and the search for a Business Combination target.  Total 
expenditure since the inception of CTCA1 to 31 December 2021 amounted to €6.4 million, €5.5 million 
of which related to the Company setup and Offering costs. These include €3.3 million of underwriting fees. 

While the Company expects that it will have enough funds available to operate until the Business  
Combination Deadline, it may sell up to 2 million additional Sponsor Warrants to the Sponsor at a price of 
€1.50 each to raise up to €3 million of additional capital, provided that such issuance is done for a 
legitimate business purpose (such as addressing any working capital requirements of the Company or 
financing any costs in connection with the pursuit of a Business Combination). 

Net Financial Costs 

The Ordinary Shares are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and the Warrants 
and Sponsor Warrants as derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value. All three instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value. In the period the net financial costs totalled €3.9 million. The main 
components of this were the effective interest (i.e. the amortised cost) on the Ordinary Share financial 
liability of €2.7million, charges of €0.6 million in respect of the increases in fair value of the Warrants and 
Sponsor Warrants, all of which are non-cash, and €0.5 million of cash negative interest on the Escrow 
Account. 

Escrow Account 

100% of the proceeds of the Offering and the €2 million Negative Interest Cover have been put into the 
Escrow Account.  The amounts available to CTCA1 from the Escrow Account (after the payment of any 
negative interest on amounts deposited in the Escrow Account and any repurchase of surplus Negative 
Interest Cover Sponsor Warrants) will be used to satisfy the cash requirements of the Business 
Combination, including paying underwriting commission and other advisers’ fees relating to the initial offering 
which are conditional on a Business Combination, the Business Combination purchase price and related 
expenses and retaining specified amounts to be used by the post-Business Combination company for 
working capital or other purposes.  

The only amounts deducted from the Escrow Account during the period to 31 December 2021 were 
negative interest charges totalling €0.5 million.  
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises the following members: 

Name Age Position Appointed to Board 
Ms. Marieke Bax (Chair) 61 Non-Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. David Crane 63 Non-Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. Shaun Kingsbury  55 Non-Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Ms. Lisa McDermott 48 Non-Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. David Tuohy 51 Non-Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. David Buzby 62 Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. Robin Duggan 55 Executive Director 2 July 2021 
Mr. Joris Rademakers 36 Executive Director 29 April 2021 

Marieke Bax 
Chairperson, Independent Non-Executive Director 
Committee(s): Audit Committee (Chair), Disclosure Committee 
Marieke has over ten years of experience as an international non-executive director and twenty years of 
international executive experience across a broad range of sectors and companies. She is regarded as an 
expert in corporate governance and a champion of board diversity. 

Marieke currently serves as a non-executive director and Chair of the Audit Committee of InPost S.A., an 
e-commerce logistics firm pioneering sustainable parcel delivery solutions that can reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions by up to 95%. Her other non-executive appointments include the boards of Xior 
Student Housing NV, Frontier Economics Limited, and Vion Food Group (Vion N.V.), as well as serving as 
Chair of the Audit Committee of Mediq N.V., a company providing healthcare solutions.   

David Crane 
Non-Executive Director 
Committee(s): Investment Committee  
David is currently the CEO at Climate Real Impact Solutions, a family of climate/sustainability-focused 
special purpose acquisition corporations. He serves on the boards of directors of Jera Co., Inc., a power 
generation joint venture between Tokyo Electric and Chubu Electric; Tata Steel, a global integrated steel 
manufacturer; Saudi Electric Company, a vertically integrated national electric utility; Heliogen, an 
emerging growth concentrated solar power company; and Source Global, a privately-held sustainable 
water technology company. David is a leading business voice in the field of sustainability, clean energy 
and climate change. He serves on the Boards of Elemental Excelerator, The Climate Group NA, as well as 
being a B Team Leader, where he chairs the B Team’s Net Zero Initiative. 

Previously, David was CEO of NRG. During his 12-year tenure, he took NRG from chapter 11, to a Fortune 
200 company. David pioneered the yieldco asset class with the IPO of NRG Yield in July 2013. David also 
led NRG to the forefront of next-generation clean energy development through large scale initiatives in 
utility scale renewables, residential solar, post combustion carbon capture and DC fast charging (EVGO). 
Prior to NRG, David was CEO of International Power Plc, a UK-domiciled FTSE-100 company. 

David is a graduate of Harvard Law School (1984) and Princeton University (1981). 
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Shaun Kingsbury CBE 
Non-Executive Director 
Committee(s): Audit Committee, Investment Committee (Chair) 
Disclosure Committee (Chair) (July 2021 – February 2022) 
Shaun is CIO of Just Climate LLP, a climate-led investment business established by Generation 
Investment Management LLP to focus on investments in hard to abate sectors and geographies. He is 
also Chairman of CNG Fuels Ltd, the leading provider of biomethane for HGV transport in the UK, and 
Chairman of Renewable Power Capital Limited, a company established by the Canadian Pension Plan 
Investment Board to develop, build and operate wind and solar assets across Europe.  

Shaun was the first CEO of the UK Green Investment Bank plc (GIB), the world’s first low carbon 
investment bank. Shaun established the bank in 2012 with the backing of the UK Government, financing 
over £12 billion of clean energy projects. He helped to establish the Green Bank Network, a club of the 
world’s leading green banking institutions before stepping down upon the successful sale of the GIB in 
August 2017 to Macquarie. Shaun was also the executive Chairman of the GIB’s Offshore Wind Fund, 
which with £1.1 billion of assets under management, was Europe’s largest renewable energy fund upon 
close.  Prior to establishing GIB, Shaun was responsible for European activities at Hudson Clean Energy 
Partners LP, a US clean energy firm.  

Lisa McDermott 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Lisa has over 24 years of experience as a banker and lawyer in the UK and the Netherlands. She is an 
executive director in the project finance team at ABN AMRO N.V. in Amsterdam, where she leads the 
bank’s European energy transition project financing activities. 

She has previously held senior roles at Intertrust Group B.V. in the Netherlands, where she was Head of 
the Financial Governance team, and Nomura International (Nomura Europe Holdings plc) and WestLB 
A.G. in London, where Lisa was Head of the Structured Solutions Group and Head of the UK Structured 
Projects team respectively.  

David Tuohy 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
David has 30 years of international experience in cleantech, energy and telecoms most recently serving 
as CEO of Connecthing International B.V., a technology-enabled company that operates the leading 
energy switching platforms for third-party intermediaries in the Netherlands and Germany. 

Previously he established the European business for Uplight, Inc. (formerly Tendril), a leading provider of 
SaaS based energy efficiency and data analytics solutions for energy utilities and has held various board 
and senior management positions at Hudson Clean Energy Partners LP, Eneco Groep N.V., Vattenfall 
AB and Royal KPN N.V. 

David Buzby 
Executive Director 
Committee(s): Investment Committee 
David has over 30 years of experience in sustainability, renewable energy, and technology, forming 
several billion-dollar public companies in the sustainability industry as well as raising $1.5 billion of co-
investment from institutional investors. 

David is Chair of the board of Stem, Inc., where he was a founding investor and has been a director since 
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2010. Stem is a leading energy storage/grid services company in North America, which completed a de-
SPAC merger with Star Peak Energy Transition Corp. in 2021, rated as one of the best performing ESG 
SPACs in the US.  David is also on the boards of Spring Valley Acquisition Corp. II, and Leading Edge 
Equipment Technologies, Inc., and serves on the investment committee of PRIME Coalition, Inc. a 
venture philanthropy company, since 2016. 

David has an MBA from Harvard Business School (1988) and a BA from Middlebury College (1982). 

Robin Duggan 
Executive Director 
Committee(s): Investment Committee, Disclosure Committee (Chair) (February 2022 -Present) 
Robin is an experienced private equity investor and business leader in the energy transition sector. Robin 
was a founding Managing Director of Riverstone Europe LLP’s Renewable Energy investment team in 
Europe which raised the world’s largest renewable energy fund, leading the investment of over 
$1.3billion into clean energy projects for a 2x return. He served on Boards and led deal teams, launching 
the first US clean energy Master Limited Partnership (Enviva Holdings GP, LLC), together with the first 
clean energy exits to a Japanese investment house (Seajacks International Limited) and a Chinese OEM 
(Velocita Energy Developments Limited). 

He is currently Chairman of the Advisory Council of Camberwell Energy Ltd, an independent business 
providing transformational development projects for customers in the renewable energy sector. 

Joris Rademakers 
Executive Director 
Committee(s): Disclosure Committee, Investment Committee  
Joris is an investor and company builder focused on the climate transition, investing growth equity to 
scale businesses and enable their transition to lower-cost capital to maximise their impact. He has over 
12 years of experience in clean energy as a finance and investment professional, having been involved in 
launching a climate investment platform and creating, scaling-up and subsequently selling two 
renewable energy platforms and a flexible generation business. 

He was previously the Chief Investment Officer and Director of Forsa Energy Ltd, a European renewable 
energy, flexible generation and energy storage investment vehicle funded by Riverstone’s multi-billion 
dollar Renewable and Alternative Energy II fund, and Corporate Development & Strategy Director and 
Finance Director of Velocita Energy Developments Ltd, Forsa Energy’s predecessor. Joris began his career 
in M&A and corporate finance at Barclays Capital (Barclays plc). 

 
Board Meeting attendance 

The Board of Directors met monthly during the year with effect from 2 July 2021* in accordance with the 
Board Rules. Details of the meetings attended during the financial year were as follows: 
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Director Board Meetings attended 
Marieke Bax - Chair  6 
Shaun Kingsbury   6 
David Crane  6 
Lisa McDermott  6 
David Tuohy  6 
David Buzby  5 
Robin Duggan  6 
Joris Rademakers  6 
   
Total meetings during the year  6 
 
*Note: a number of sole director resolutions were passed in relation to the set-up of the Company and 
IPO process during the period from 29 April 2021 to 2 July 2021. Those have not been included in the 
number of meetings shown as having been held during 2021.   
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

Corporate Governance Statement  

The Company is committed to integrity, maintaining high standards of corporate governance to underpin 
the Company’s values and enable delivery of shareholder value. To support this, policies and procedures 
have been adopted to ensure fair and responsible practices are consistently adopted and any possible 
breaches or issues may be navigated in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Board 
recognises that these policies and procedures need to be regularly reviewed and, as appropriate, updated. 
The policies and procedures currently in place have been published on the Company’s website and include 
a Code of Conduct, Board Rules, Audit Committee Rules, Whistleblowing Policy, Diversity Policy, Insider 
Trading Policy, Related Party Transactions Policy, Remuneration Policy and Bilateral Contacts Policy.  

 
Board Composition and Structure 

The Company maintains a one-tier board which is composed of Executive Directors and Non-Executive 
Directors. The Board currently consists of three Executive Directors and five Non-Executive Directors. Of 
the Non-Executive Directors, Marieke Bax, David Tuohy and Lisa McDermott are based in the Netherlands 
and qualify as independent in accordance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”). 
Directors are appointed for a period of four years. 
 
In accordance with the Articles of Association (“Articles”), the Board has adopted rules governing the 
Board’s principles and best practices, describing the duties, tasks, composition, procedures and decision 
making of the Board as well as the supervising duties of the Non-Executive Directors.  
 
Resolutions of the Board are adopted by unanimous vote where possible. Where this is not possible, 
resolutions of the Board are adopted by a majority vote of the Directors present or represented. 
Resolutions can only be adopted if at least five of the Directors are present or represented. Each Director 
has one vote. A proposal is deemed rejected in case of a tie of votes within the Board.  
 
In accordance with the Board Rules, the Board meets monthly. Meetings are chaired from and take place 
in Amsterdam or such other place in the Netherlands as the Directors agree. As set out in the ‘Business 
Environment’ section of this report (p.10 above), due to COVID-19 travel and work from home restrictions, 
some Directors have been unable to attend Board meetings in person in the Netherlands and have 
participated virtually by means of videoconferencing. 
 
The Articles provide that one Executive Director will be appointed by the General Meeting upon the 
binding nomination of the Board. The General Meeting can reject the nomination by majority representing 
at least two-thirds of the votes cast on the Ordinary Shares and the Sponsor Shares, representing more 
than half of the issued capital of the Company. If the nomination is rejected with the requisite majority, 
the Board will make a binding nomination of a different person. If the nomination is not rejected with the 
requisite majority, the person nominated will be appointed.  
 
The Articles provide that a director may be suspended or dismissed by the corporate body that appointed 
such Director at any time. A resolution of the General Meeting to suspend or remove the Executive 
Director it appointed other than pursuant to a proposal by the Board requires a majority representing at 
least two-thirds of the votes cast on the Ordinary Shares and the Sponsor Shares, representing more than 
half of the issued capital of the Company. 
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Committees of the Board  

The Board may decide to install committees whenever it deems appropriate. The Board has installed the 
following standing committees: 

• Audit Committee – comprises Non-Executive Directors and meets whenever deemed necessary, but 
not less than two times per year. Separate by-laws governing the Audit Committee have been adopted. 

• Investment Committee - comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors, together with one or more 
observers. Its remit is to screen investment opportunities in connection with a Business Combination. 

• Disclosure Committee - comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors. Its remit is to assess 
whether specific information falls within the scope of the definition of inside information as included 
in the insider trading policy of the Company.   

Diversity 

The Dutch government adopted legislation in September 2021 requiring that one-third (rounded up) of 
non-executives on boards of Dutch companies listed on a stock exchange in the EU be female. This gender 
diversity quota applies to future appointments. The Company currently meets these gender diversity 
requirements.   

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board as an important element in maintaining a 
competitive advantage and strives to meet a more balanced male/female ratio. CTCA1’s Diversity Policy 
provides, when considering the appointment and reappointment of Non-Executive Directors, that a 
diverse Board will include, and make use of, differences in the background, gender, geographical and 
industry experience, skills and other distinctions between Non-Executive Directors. These factors will be 
considered in determining the composition of the Board and, when possible, will be balanced 
appropriately. Board appointments are made on merit, in the context of the diversity, experience, 
independence, knowledge and skills the Board as a whole requires to be effective. 

Limitation on Supervisory Positions 

Dutch law restricts the number of non-executive or supervisory director positions persons can hold on the 
boards of certain large Dutch companies. The Company does not currently qualify as a large company 
under these provisions as, among other reasons, it has not yet prepared annual accounts covering two 
years.  

Mandatory Disclosures relating to the Board 

During the last five years, none of the Directors, except as specifically mentioned otherwise: (i) has been 
convicted of fraudulent offences; (ii) has served as a director or officer of any entity subject to bankruptcy 
proceedings, receivership, liquidation or administration; or (iii) has been subject to any official public 
incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated professional 
bodies), or disqualification by a court from acting as a member of the administrative, management or 
supervisory body of an issuer, or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any issuer.  

Mr David Tuohy previously served as a director of Wind Systems Holdings Coöperatief U.A. During Mr 
Tuohy’s term this company was voluntarily liquidated. There were no legal proceedings and there are no 
outstanding claims concerning this voluntary liquidation. All remaining proceeds were returned to the 
shareholders and this company was deregistered in April 2021.  

The Sponsor has the right to designate one or more Executive Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors. 
Such Directors will be appointed upon the binding nomination by the Board by the meeting of Sponsor 
shareholders as Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors or as replacement for such members, in 
which case the Sponsor has the right to designate for nomination and propose replacements for all 
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Executive Director positions, except for one Executive Director that will be appointed by the General 
Meeting upon the binding nomination of the Board. Both the Board and the meeting of Sponsor 
shareholders shall endeavour to ensure that at least 50% of the Non-Executive Directors is independent 
within the meaning of the Code. Such designation right will expire if the Sponsor ceases to hold Sponsor 
Shares. A designation right (if any) with respect to the Board after completion of a Business Combination 
will be agreed upon by the Sponsor, the Company and the target business. 

Dutch Corporate Governance Code 

Prior to effecting a Business Combination, the Company is not involved in any activities other than a 
Business Combination. The Company intends to tailor its compliance with the Code to the situation after 
completion of a Business Combination and will, until such time, not comply with a number of the best 
practice provisions. The current deviations from the Code provisions relating to the Board and its 
committees are summarised below. 

Best Practice Provision 2.3.4: Composition of the Committees: 

Only one of the two Audit Committee members, being Marieke Bax, is independent within the meaning of 
provision 2.1.8 of the Code. The Audit Committee members otherwise meet the Code requirements and 
have been appointed based on their respective expertise and skillsets. The Company has every intention 
of meeting this provision in full when next selecting and appointing Audit Committee members.   

Best Practice Provision 2.3.10: Secretary to the Board 

No Company secretary has been appointed. Until a Business Combination is completed, the Board has no 
need for a secretary to the Board given the Company’s limited activities.  

Best Practice Provision 3.3.3: Shares held by a non-executive Director in the company on whose Board 
they serve should be long-term investments 

The Sponsor Shares held (directly or indirectly) by the Non-Executive Directors, are not necessarily held as 
long-term investments, as their investment horizon will be determined following completion of a Business 
Combination. This is partly inherent in the fact that it is uncertain that the current Directors will remain 
appointed as Directors of the Company after completion of a Business Combination. Furthermore, the 
Company considers the fact that the Directors (directly or indirectly) hold securities which do not have a 
strict long-term investment horizon to be in line with market practice for SPACs. The Company’s capital 
structure, however, ensures that the interests of the Company’s promoters, members of the Board and 
ordinary shareholders are aligned.  The Sponsor Shares which have been issued are subject to a lock-up 
undertaking which applies following conversion of such Sponsor Shares into Ordinary Shares in the capital 
of the Company. With respect to the individual holdings of the Non-Executive Directors, no Non-Executive 
Director individually holds (directly or indirectly) more than 1.3% of the issued share capital (excluding 
shares held in treasury) of the Company such that no one Non-Executive Director may substantially 
influence a vote on a proposed Business Combination. The Company further considers that its balanced 
and highly experienced Board and committees, with robust processes and procedures in place, minimises 
the risk of entering into an unfavourable Business Combination. 

Best Practice Provision 4.3.3: Cancelling the Binding Nature of a Nomination 

A general meeting of the Company may only pass a resolution to cancel the binding nature of the 
nomination by the Board for the appointment of one Executive Director by majority representing at least 
two-thirds of the votes cast on the Ordinary Shares and Sponsor Shares, representing more than half of 
the issued capital of the Company. As the Company will not conduct any business prior to a Business 
Combination being completed, the Company considers that a higher threshold is appropriate at this point 
in time. The Board, together with the Company’s promoters and execution team, are aligned on 
implementing a Business Combination within the time limits applicable under the Company’s prospectus 
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dated 23 June 2021. The Company intends to endeavour to comply fully with this provision following a 
Business Combination.   

Best Practice Provision 5.1.4: Composition of Committees 

Whilst the Audit Committee comprises solely of Non-Executive Directors, the Chair of the Board also chairs 
the Audit Committee. As the Company’s sole activity is pursuing a Business Combination and given Ms 
Bax’s significant expertise of acting as a non-executive and chairing audit committees, Ms Bax is best 
placed to assume this role. The Company will endeavour to fully comply with this provision when new 
Audit Committee members are appointed.  

Conflicts of Interest; Other Information  

Dutch law prohibits a director from participating in the deliberation or decision-making of a board 
resolution if he or she has a direct or indirect personal interest conflicting with the interests of the 
Company and its business. A conflict of interest exists in any event if, in the situation at hand, the director 
is deemed unable to serve the interests of the Company and its business with the required level of integrity 
and objectivity. 

The Articles and the Board Rules require each Director to immediately report any actual or potential 
personal conflict of interest concerning him or herself or any other Director to the Chair of the Board and 
to the other Directors, and to provide all information relevant to the conflict. The Board must then 
determine whether it qualifies as a conflict of interest, in which case the conflicted Director may not 
participate in the decision-making and deliberation process on the relevant topic. If all Directors are 
conflicted and as a consequence no resolution can be adopted by the Board, the resolution may still be 
adopted by the Board.  

Non-compliance with the provisions on conflicts of interest may render the resolution voidable 
(vernietigbaar) and a non-complying Director may be held liable towards the Company. As a general rule, 
the existence of a (potential) conflict of interest does not affect the authority to represent the Company 
and would therefore not affect the validity of contracts entered into by the Company.  

The following circumstances could lead to a potential conflict of interest for the Directors: 

• Marieke Bax, David Tuohy, and Lisa McDermott directly hold 25,000, 20,000 and 20,000 Sponsor 
Shares, respectively. Such securities may incentivise them to focus on completing a Business 
Combination rather than on critical selection of a best possible target business and the negotiation of 
favourable terms for the transaction. If the EGM would approve a Business Combination proposed by 
the Directors, despite this Business Combination not having been subject to either a critical selection 
or based on unfavourable terms to the Company and its shareholders, the effective return for such 
shareholders after completing a Business Combination may be low or non-existent; 

• The Company’s Promoter, Climate Transition Capital (CTC), and its Strategic Partner, Climate Real 
Investment Solutions (CRIS), hold Sponsor Shares via the Sponsor, which may incentivise it (and the 
Directors affiliated therewith) to initially focus on completing a Business Combination rather than on 
critical selection of a feasible target business and the negotiation of favourable terms for the 
transaction. In the long-term, however, CTC and CRIS are aligned in pursuing a favourable business 
combination as they are more likely to benefit from their Sponsor Shares and related conversion rights 
if the acquired target business performs well and is integrated in the Company in a manner that is 
beneficial from a commercial, legal and tax perspective to the Company and all its shareholders; 

• The Sponsor and the Directors and their affiliated entities will be free to pursue, for their own account, 
any investments or business combination opportunities, some of which may overlap with 
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opportunities that are suitable for the Company as a Business Combination without being required to 
present such opportunities to the Board. This overlap could create conflicts of interest, such as in 
determining to which entity a particular investment opportunity should be presented. These conflicts 
may not be resolved in favour of the Company and a potential target business may be presented to 
another entity affiliated with the Sponsor or the Directors; 

• Directors are not required to commit their full time to the Company’s affairs. They may allocate their 
time to other businesses because they might have an interest therein, leading to potential conflicts of 
interest in their determination as to how much time to devote to the Company’s affairs (and indirectly 
the shareholders), which could have a negative impact on the Company’s ability to complete a 
Business Combination. As a consequence, the Company may be unable to complete a Business 
Combination or, when it does, the effective return for Shareholders may be low or non-existent; 

• One or more of the Directors may negotiate employment or a consultancy arrangement with a target 
business in connection with a particular Business Combination. Such negotiations would take place 
simultaneously with the negotiation of a Business Combination and may provide for them to receive 
compensation following such Business Combination. This may cause them to have conflicts of interest 
in determining whether a particular proposed Business Combination is the most advantageous for the 
Company and thereby the shareholders, as the personal and financial interests of such Directors may 
influence their decisions in identifying and selecting a target business; and 

• Joris Rademakers and David Buzby are also appointed as members of the Sponsor’s board. This may 
give rise to conflicts of interests in determining whether a particular proposed Business Combination 
is the most advantageous for the Company and thereby the shareholders, as the Sponsor (and the 
directors affiliated therewith) may be incentivised to initially focus on completing a Business 
Combination rather than on critical selection of a feasible target business and the negotiation of 
favourable terms for the transaction. 

The Board Rules further provide that the Board will not propose a Business Combination to the EGM where 
the target business is affiliated with the Sponsor, promoter, strategic partner or Directors or their 
respective affiliates, unless a fairness opinion from a reputable independent investment bank is obtained 
that the purchase consideration is fair, from a financial point of view to the ordinary shareholders of the 
Company. 

There are no other potential conflicts of interest between the private interests or other duties of the 
members of the Board vis-à-vis the interests of the Company. There is no family relationship between any 
Director or Audit Committee member.  

Liability and Insurance 

Under Dutch law, a Board member may be liable to the Company for damages in the event of improper or 
negligent performance of their duties. They may be jointly and severally liable for damages towards the 
Company for infringement of the Articles or of certain provisions of the Dutch Civil Code (Burgerlijk 
Wetboek). In addition, they may be liable towards third parties for infringement of certain provisions of 
the Dutch Civil Code. In certain circumstances, they may also incur additional specific civil, administrative 
and criminal liabilities. Directors and the audit committee of the Company are insured under an insurance 
policy against damages resulting from their conduct when acting in their capacities as such members or 
officers. 
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Indemnification 

The Articles provide for an indemnity for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors. Subject to Dutch law 
and not in any case of wilful misconduct or gross negligence (opzet of grove nalatigheid), every person 
who is or formerly was a Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all costs, 
charges, losses and liabilities incurred by such Director in the proper execution of their duties or the proper 
exercise of his or her powers in any such capacities in the Company including, without limitation, a liability 
incurred in defending proceedings in which judgment is given in such Director’s favour or in which he or 
she is acquitted, or which are otherwise disposed of without a finding or admission of material breach of 
duty on his/her part. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

The Audit Committee is a standing committee of the Board consisting of at least two members.  The 
members of the Audit Committee are appointed, and may be replaced at any time, by the Board. The 
Board appoints the Audit Committee Chair.  

The members of the Audit Committee are Marieke Bax as Chair and Shaun Kingsbury. The Board is satisfied 
that at least one member of the Audit Committee, Marieke Bax, has recent and relevant financial 
experience. 

Meetings 

The Audit Committee met once during the year to review and approve the year end audit plan presented 
by the external auditors. In accordance with the Audit Committee rules, the members also reviewed and 
approved the 2021 Interim Report prior to it being presented to the Board for approval. The external 
auditors also had discussions with the Chair of the committee during the year. Only members of the 
committee have the right to attend the meetings of the committee, however the committee can invite 
other Directors, individuals from the Company’s advisers and representatives of the external auditors to 
attend its meetings. 

Details of the meetings attended during the financial year were as follows: 

Director 
Audit Committees 

attended 
Marieke Bax - Chair  1 
Shaun Kingsbury   1 
David Crane  1* 
Lisa McDermott  1* 
David Tuohy  1* 
David Buzby  1* 
Robin Duggan  1* 
Joris Rademakers  1* 
   
Total meetings during the 
year 

 
1 

* Invitee 

Role 

The core terms of reference of the Audit Committee include reviewing and reporting to the Board on 
matters relating to: 
• the audit plans of the external auditors; 
• the Company’s overall framework for financial reporting and internal controls; 
• the Company’s overall framework for risk management; 
• the accounting policies and practices of the Company; and 
• the annual and interim financial reporting carried out by the Company. 

The committee is responsible for notifying the Board of any significant concerns that the external auditors 
may have arising from their audit work, any matters which may materially affect or impair the 
independence of the external auditors, any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design 
or operation of the Company’s internal controls and any serious issues of noncompliance. No such 
concerns were identified during the financial period. 
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Key matters considered by the committee 

During the year, the issues considered by the committee both during and outside formal committee 
meetings included: 

• Company financial disclosures and accounting matters including accounting treatment and 
valuation of the Company’s financial instruments and going concern;  

• audit plan of the external auditors for the 2021 financial year;  
• reports of the external auditors concerning its audit and review of the financial statements of the 

Company; 
• 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements and 2021 Interim Financial Report; 
• external auditors’ fees; and 
• auditor independence and objectivity. 

Internal audit function  

The Company does not have an internal audit function, which has been considered unnecessary due to 
the nature of the Company as a SPAC. The need for an internal audit function is reviewed periodically by 
the Audit Committee.   

External auditors 

The Company’s external auditor, Deloitte Accountants B.V. (“Deloitte” or “External Auditor”), was 
appointed as of incorporation of the Company. The External Auditor reports to the Committee on the 
actions taken to comply with professional and regulatory requirements and with best practice designed to 
ensure its independence. The performance of the External Auditor is reviewed by the Audit Committee on 
an annual basis through a qualitative assessment of the services provided against the agreed audit plan 
and taking account of feedback received from management. Following this review, the Audit Committee 
is satisfied that the external audit process operates effectively.  
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT 

The Company’s policy is to remunerate directors fairly for their contribution and role within the Company. 
The table below shows the remuneration paid to the Directors in the period since their appointment until 
31 December 2021. 

Name Position Appointed to Board Fees 
Marieke Bax Non-executive Director 2 July 2021 €12,405 
David Crane Non-executive Director 2 July 2021 €24,811 
Shaun Kingsbury  Non-executive Director 2 July 2021 €24,811 
Lisa McDermott Non-executive Director 2 July 2021 €9,924 
David Tuohy Non-executive Director 2 July 2021 €9,924 
David Buzby Executive Director 2 July 2021 €37,216 
Robin Duggan Executive Director 2 July 2021 €37,216 
Joris Rademakers Executive Director 29 April 2021 €50,000 
 
Except for relocation costs reimbursed to Joris Rademakers mentioned below, the Directors did not 
receive, nor are entitled to, any other benefits or annual bonuses. 

All Executive Directors have entered into management agreements with the Company. 

Notice Period and Severance 

The management agreements, other than the agreement for the Joris Rademakers, do not contain any 
severance arrangements or notice periods. 

Joris Rademakers’s agreement has a notice period of six months for the Company and three months for 
the Executive Director. If his agreement is terminated early by the Company, other than for urgent cause 
or serious culpable or negligent behaviour, he is entitled to a one-off severance payment equal to six 
monthly fees subject to relevant withholding of taxes. 

Relocation Costs 

Joris Rademakers has been reimbursed €51,234 of costs related to his relocation to the Netherlands. These 
costs were for items such as relocation support, storage, shipment and flights and were in line with local 
market practice. 

Directors’ Interests in the Financial Instruments of the Company 

The Directors’ interests in the financial instruments of the Company at the year-end were: 

Director Sponsor Shares 
 Sponsor 

Warrants 
 Number Percentage*  Number 
David Buzby (held via the Sponsor) 437,501 1.8%  573,963 
Robin Duggan (held via the Sponsor) 256,974 1.1%  337,128 
Joris Rademakers (held via the Sponsor) 120,945 0.5%  158,669 
Marieke Bax 25,000 0.1%  - 
David Crane (held via the Sponsor) 302,317 1.3%  396,613 
Shaun Kingsbury (held via the Sponsor) 237,477 1.0%  311,549 
David Tuohy  20,000 0.1%  - 
Lisa McDermott  20,000 0.1%  - 
*Percentage of issued share capital excluding shares held in treasury. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

Related Party Transactions 

The Sponsor 

The Sponsor (Climate Transition Sponsor I LLP) holds 19.73% of the issued share capital of the Company 
and the following Directors are members in entities which are members of the Sponsor. 

Name Position 
David Crane Non-executive Director 
Shaun Kingsbury  Non-executive Director 
David Buzby Executive Director 
Robin Duggan Executive Director 
Joris Rademakers Executive Director 

The Sponsor is therefore considered to be a related party. 

On 29 April 2021 the Sponsor subscribed for 100 Sponsor Shares for cash at an issue price of €0.01 on 
incorporation of the Company. 

On the 19 May 2021, the Sponsor subscribed for 5,056,136 additional Sponsor Shares for cash at an issue 
price of €0.01.  

On 2 July the Sponsor acquired 6,770,834 Sponsor Warrants from the Company for a consideration of 
€10,156,251. 

On 20 August 2021 the Sponsor acquired 197,565 Sponsor Warrants from the Company for a 
consideration of €296,348. 

On 20 August 2021 380,986 Sponsor Shares were cancelled and €3,810 refunded to the Sponsor. This 
reduced the issued Sponsor Shares to 4,740,250, 25% of the final 18,961,000 of Units issued in the 
Offering. 

Climate Transition Capital LLP (“CTC LLP”) 

Prior to the Business Combination, CTC LLP, of which Robin Duggan (Executive Director) is a designated 
member, is entitled to periodical payments of service fees by the Company via a consultancy agreement 
between CTC LLP and the Company for the provision of administrative, IT and support services provided 
by CTC LLP to the Company during the set-up and Offering process and subsequently to (eventually) 
identify potential target businesses for the Company (the “Service Fees”). The Service Fees charged during 
the period were €58k in respect of the set-up and IPO process and €106k for ongoing support since the 
Offering. 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Company’s Annual Report. The Company’s Annual Report 
comprises the Directors’ Report and the Company’s Financial Statements. The Directors are responsible 
for preparing the Annual Report in accordance with applicable law and regulations. The Directors are 
required by law to prepare the Annual Report for each financial year. The Directors have prepared the 
Annual Report in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the 
European Union and the relevant provisions of the Dutch Civil Code. The Directors must not approve the 
Annual Report unless they are satisfied that it gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing the Annual Report, the 
Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union and the relevant provisions of the 
Dutch Civil Code have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the Annual Report; and 

• prepare the Annual Report on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial 
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the Annual Report complies with applicable law. 
The Directors have assessed whether the risk assessment executed showed any material failings in the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal risk management and control systems. Though such systems are 
designed to manage and control risks, they can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatements. Based on this assessment, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no material 
failings of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal risk management and control systems occurred and 
the internal risk and control systems provides reasonable assurance that the 2021 financial statements do 
not contain any errors of material importance. 

With reference to section 5.25c paragraph 2c of the Dutch Act on Supervision, each of the Directors, whose 
names and functions are listed in the Board of Directors section, confirm that, to the best of their 
knowledge: 

• the Company’s financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union and the relevant provisions of the Dutch Civil Code, give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company; 

• the Directors’ Report gives a true and fair view on the situation on the balance sheet date, the 
development and performance of the business and the position of the Company of which the financial 
information is included in the Directors’ Report and includes a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that the Company faces; and 

• having taken all matters considered by the Board and brought to the attention of the Board during 
the financial year into account, the Directors consider that the Annual Report, taken as a whole is fair, 
balanced and understandable. The Directors believe that the disclosures set out in the Annual Report 
provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance, 
business model and strategy. 
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After conducting a review of management analysis, the Directors have reasonable expectation that the 
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, the Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the Annual 
Report. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. on 26 April 2022 by:  

 

 

Mr. David Buzby    Mr. Robin Duggan    Mr. Joris Rademakers 
Executive Director   Executive Director   Executive Director 
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Consolidated Statement Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the period from incorporation on 29 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 
 

 Period to 
 

 
31 December 

2021 
 Notes €'000 
   

Administrative expenses 6 (2,678) 
Operating loss  (2,678) 
Finance income 9 16  
Finance costs 9 (3,938)  
Net finance costs  (3,922)  
Loss before tax  (6,600) 
Income tax expense 10 -  
Loss for the period  (6,600) 
Other comprehensive result for the period  - 
Total comprehensive loss for the period  (6,600) 
   
Basic loss per share 11 -€0.281 
Diluted loss per share 11 -€0.281 
   
The above statement of consolidated comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2021 
 
  31 December 

2021 
 Notes €'000 

Assets   

Current assets   
Other receivables 12 268  
Cash and cash equivalents 13 193,714  
Total current assets  193,982  
Total assets  193,982  

   
Equity   

Share capital 5.1 47  
Retained earnings  (6,600)  
Total equity  (6,553) 
Liabilities   
Non-Current liabilities   

Ordinary Shares subsequently measured at amortised cost 5.2 181,497  
Warrants measured at FVTPL1 5.2 7,900 
Sponsor Warrants measured at FVTPL1 5.3 10,731 
Total non-current liabilities  200,128  
Current liabilities   
Other payables 14 407  
Total current liabilities  407  
Total liabilities  200,535  
Total equity and liabilities  193,982  
   
1 FVTPL – fair value through profit or loss 
 
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
 
The Financial Statements on pages 32 to 54 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for 
issue on 26 April 2022. They were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Mr. David Buzby    Mr. Robin Duggan    Mr. Joris Rademakers 
Executive Director   Executive Director   Executive Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the period from incorporation on 29 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 

  

Share capital  
Retained 
earnings  Total Equity 

 Notes €'000  €'000  €'000 
       

Balance at incorporation on 29 April 2021  -   -   -  
  

     
Total comprehensive loss   

     
Loss for the period  -   (6,600)   (6,600) 
Total comprehensive loss for the period  -   (6,600)   (6,600) 

  
     

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity      
Contributions and distributions:  

     
Shares issued 5.1 51   -   51  
Shares cancelled 5.1 (4)  -  (4) 
Total contributions and distributions  47   -   47  

          
Total transactions with owners of the Company  47   -   47  

       

Balance at 31 December 2021  47   (6,600)   (6,553) 
       
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the period from incorporation on 29 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 

  
Period to  

31 December 
2021 

 Notes €'000 
   

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss before income tax  (6,600) 
Adjustments for:   

Net finance costs  3,922 
Increase in other receivables  (268) 
Increase in other payables  127  

Negative interest paid 9 (274) 
Net cash from operating activities  (3,093)  

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Net cash from investing activities  -  
   

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from issue of share capital 5.1 51  
Repayment on cancellation of share capital 5.1 (4) 
Proceeds from issue of Units 5.2 189,610 
Cost associated with issue of Units 5.2 (3,318) 
Proceeds from issue of Sponsor Warrants 5.3 10,452 
Income from trading during stabilisation period 9 16 
Net cash flow from financing activities  196,807  

   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  193,714  
Net cash and cash equivalents at 29 April 2021  -  
Net cash and cash equivalents at period end 13 193,714  
   
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. The company and its operations 

Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. (“CTCA1” or the “Company”) was incorporated on 29 April 2021 
by Climate Transition Capital Sponsor I LLP (the “Sponsor”). 

The Company is: 
• a private limited liability company; 
• incorporated in the Netherlands; 
• domiciled in the Netherlands.  

The Company’s registered office is at Basisweg 10 
 1043 AP Amsterdam 
 The Netherlands 

The Company is registered in the Trade Register at the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under number 
82671788. 

The Company is a special purpose acquisition company (“SPAC”) for the purpose of effecting a merger, 
capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganisation or similar business combination 
with or acquisition of a target business or entity (a “Business Combination”). 

On 29 June 2021 CTCA1 successfully completed a private placement of 19,000,000 “Units”, each entitling 
the holder to one Ordinary Share and one-third of a Warrant, at a price of €10.00 per Unit raising €190 
million (the “Offering”). The resulting Units were admitted to listing and trading on Euronext Amsterdam. 
The Offering was followed by a short stabilisation period during which 390,000 Units were repurchased 
then cancelled leaving final proceeds from the Offering of €189.61 million. 

The Company has the legal ownership of these proceeds and the Board has the authority and power to 
spend such amounts. To ensure that the proceeds are only used for the purposes set out in the Prospectus 
(summarised in the Overview of the Company on page 3 of this Annual Report), the Company entered into 
an escrow agreement with Intertrust Escrow and Settlements B.V., a private company based in 
Amsterdam, the Netherlands and Stichting Climate Transition Capital Escrow (the “Foundation”). 
Following the Offering, the entire €189.61 million proceeds were deposited in a bank account with ABN 
AMRO Bank N.V. in the Netherlands covered by the escrow agreement (the “Escrow Account”). Pursuant 
to the escrow agreement, basically the amounts held in the Escrow Account will not be released unless 
and until the occurrence of the earlier of a Business Combination or liquidation. 

Following the Offering and prior to the completion of a Business Combination, the Company will not engage 
in any operations, other than in connection with the selection, structuring and completion of a Business 
Combination. The Company has 24 months from the Offering settlement date of 2 July 2021 to complete a 
Business Combination. 

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and the Foundation (the “Group”). The 
Foundation is a subsidiary of the Company as it is ultimately controlled by the Company.  

As the Company was only incorporated on 29 April 2021, the reporting period covered is from this date to 
31 December 2021, which is less than twelve months. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance and comply with 
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International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and interpretations adopted by the European 
Union, where effective, for financial years beginning 1 January 2021 and also comply with the financial 
reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The significant accounting policies applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied throughout the period and to each subsidiary 
within the group. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention except 
where stated. 

2.2. Going concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. As part of the 
Offering, the Sponsor committed capital of €10.5 million via the purchase of Sponsor Warrants at a 
price of €1.50 each.  €2 million of this amount will be used to cover up to €2 million of negative interest 
on the Escrow Account deposit.  The balance is to be used to cover costs related to the Offering, the 
search for a target and the completion of a Business Combination. 

While the Company expects that it has enough funds available to operate until either a Business 
Combination is completed or the Business Combination deadline is reached, it may also sell up to 2 
million additional Sponsor Warrants to the Sponsor at a price of €1.50 each to raise up to €3 million of 
additional capital, provided that such issuance is done for a legitimate business purpose (such as 
addressing any working capital requirements of the Company or financing any costs in connection with 
the pursuit of a Business Combination). There is no obligation on the Sponsor to acquire additional 
Sponsor Warrants. 

If the Company does not complete a Business Combination within 24 months from the settlement date 
of the offering, the Company shall, within no more than three months after such 24-month period, 
convene a general meeting for the purpose of adopting a resolution to dissolve and liquidate the 
Company and to delist the Ordinary Shares and Warrants. In the event of a liquidation, the distribution 
of the Company’s assets and the allocation of the liquidation surplus shall be completed, after payment 
of the Company’s creditors and settlement of its liabilities, in accordance with the rights of the Sponsor 
Shares and the Ordinary Shares and in accordance with a pre-determined order of priority. There will 
be no distribution of proceeds or otherwise with respect to any of the Warrants or the Sponsor 
Warrants (except for those Sponsor Warrants relating to any unused portion of the €2 million negative 
interest cover), and all such Warrants and Sponsor Warrants will automatically expire without value 
upon occurrence of such a liquidation. These conditions indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty, which may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

The financial risk for the Ordinary Shareholders is largely mitigated by the fact that the Company holds 
€191 million in the Escrow Account, which can only be released upon meeting strict requirements. 
Furthermore, the Company has raised proceeds from the sale of the Sponsor Warrants amounting to 
€10.45 million which, after deducting €2 million for negative interest cover, is considered to be 
sufficient to cover working capital and other running costs and expenses. If no Business Combination is 
completed, the exposure of Ordinary Shareholders is basically limited to the negative interest in excess 
of €2m incurred by the Company on the amount held in the Escrow Account and, if any, costs that are 
not covered by the balance of proceeds from the Sponsor Warrants. 

2.3. Principles for consolidation 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity where 
it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
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to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. 

For purposes of the consolidated financial statements, CTCA1 forms a group together with the 
Foundation which holds the Offering proceeds in escrow on a designated bank account. The Offering 
proceeds may only be released from escrow: 

(i) upon receipt of (a) a joint and written instruction signed by the Board, confirming that the 
conditions, if any, to completing of a Business Combination are satisfied or waived in 
accordance with the transaction documentation in effect between the Company and the target 
business and (b) a written confirmation of a civil law notary or deputy civil law notary (notaris 
of kandidaat-notaris) that the Business Combination extraordinary general meeting has 
adopted a resolution to approve the Business Combination; 

(ii) upon receipt of a written confirmation of a civil law notary or deputy civil law notary (notaris 
of kandidaat-notaris) that (a) the Business Combination Deadline has passed without the 
Company completing a Business Combination and (b) the delivery period under the Share 
Repurchase Arrangement has expired or a written resolution by the general meeting to pursue 
a liquidation was adopted; or  

(iii) upon receipt by the Escrow Agent of a duly completed lawyer statement executed by a duly 
authorised lawyer acting on behalf of the Company delivered to the Escrow Agent, with a copy 
to the Company, requiring payment by the Foundation of all or part of the amounts held in the 
Escrow Account to the Company or to any third party payee listed in the lawyer statement, 
provided that the relevant details of such other third party payee have been completed in the 
lawyer statement and payment to such other third party payee would not, in the opinion of 
the Escrow Agent (at its sole discretion), result in a breach of any applicable law, rule, 
regulation, court order or decision made by any competent judicial, governmental, supervisory, 
regulatory or administrative body. 

As such, the Company can control the date on which the Foundation needs to pay out the cash held in 
escrow by proposing a Business Combination or waiting until the date the 24-months period ends and 
the funds need to be repaid. Therefore, the Foundation is considered a group entity and included in 
these consolidated financial statements. 

Subsidiaries are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases, for instance because of the sale of a 
subsidiary or other change in the Company’s shareholding, voting rights or board representation, such 
that the Company is no longer able to exercise control over the entity in question. 

2.4. Transaction between entities within the group 

Transactions and balances between entities forming part of the Group together with any unrealised 
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.  Unrealized gains on transactions between Group 
entities are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the transferred asset.  

2.5. Foreign currencies 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, which is the Company’s and its 
subsidiary’s functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions denominated in currencies other than Euros are recorded at the exchange rate at the 
transaction date. 
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2.6.  Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial 
liability when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, 
i.e. the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets 
The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) on the basis of both: 
• the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and 
• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

The Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at FVTPL, transaction costs. 

Financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost 
A debt instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual 
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost are 
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or 
impaired. 

The Company includes other receivables, cash and cash equivalents in this category. 

Impairment of financial assets 
The Company has chosen to apply an approach similar to the simplified approach for expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) under IFRS 9 to its financial assets. Therefore, the Company recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company’s approach to ECLs reflects a probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs. 

The Company includes Sponsor Shares in in this category. 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost or 
measured at FVTPL. 

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and certain financial instruments. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not derivatives are subsequently measured at 
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amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

The Company includes other payables and Ordinary Shares (see note 5 below) in this category. 

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are derivatives are subsequently measured at fair 
value.  The change in fair value recognised is included as finance costs or income in the statement of 
profit or loss. 

The Company includes Warrants and Sponsor Warrants (see note 5 below) in this category. 

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss. 

2.7.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand 
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The 
carrying amounts of these approximate their fair value. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral 
part of the Company’s cash management. This includes the cash deposited on the Escrow Account. 

2.8. Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 
• in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
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and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; 

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy, as explained above. 

2.9. Taxes 

Income tax recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes 
current and deferred taxes. 

Current tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company 
operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are tested for impairment on the basis of a tax planning derived 
from management business plans. 

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Sales tax 
The Company is considered a VAT entrepreneur for the Dutch Tax Authorities. 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except: 
• when the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item, as applicable; 

• when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
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of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

2.10. New and amended standards that became effective in 2021 

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

Interest rate benchmark reform 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases Covid-19 related rent concessions beyond 
30 June 2021 

IFRIC agenda decision Configuration or customization costs in a 
cloud computing arrangement 

2.11. New and amended standards not adopted by the group 

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the 
following new and amended standards that have been issued and adopted by the EU but were not 
effective for reporting periods ending 31 December 2021: 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
(including the June 2020 
Amendments to IFRS 17) 

Insurance Contracts Effective from 1.1.2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial 
Statements 

Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current 

Effective from 1.1.2023  

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations 

Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework 

Effective from 1.1.2022  

Amendments to IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment  

Proceeds before Intended Use  Effective from 1.1.2022  

Amendments to IAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets  

Onerous Contracts—Cost of 
Fulfilling a Contract  

Effective from 1.1.2022  

Annual Improvements to IFRS 
2018-2020 Cycle  

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 
Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture  

Effective from 1.1.2022 

Amendment to IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 

Disclosure of accounting policies Effective from 1.1.2023 

Amendment to IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and 
Errors 

Definition of accounting estimates Effective from 1.1.2023 

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the amendments to the existing standards listed 
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above will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future 
periods. 

2.12. Cash flow Statement 

The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method with cashflows from interest 
payments presented as operating cashflows. 

The cash deposited in the Escrow Account meets the definition set out in paragraph 6 of IAS 7 
Statement of Cash Flows and is therefore included as cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow 
statement. 

2.13. Segment Reporting 

The activities of the Group are considered to be a single operating segment under IFRS 8 therefore no 
segmental disclosures are included in the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to 
make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts 
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies  
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are presented 
separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements 
Judgement. 

• The accounting treatment of Sponsor Shares as equity and the Ordinary Shares, Warrants and 
Sponsor Warrants as financial liabilities. Further details are given in note 5 below. 

• The judgement that IFRS 2 Share Based Payments does not apply to the Sponsor Shares and Sponsor 
Warrants. It is estimated that these shares and warrants, which are the ‘risk bearing’ capital of the 
Company, were issued at fair value (see “Key sources of estimation uncertainty” below). As the 
Sponsor Share and Warrant holders acquired their interests at fair value, they received their 
interests in the capacity of investors and not as compensation for the provision of services to the 
Company. 

• The judgement that the only incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of the Units were 
the underwriting fees.  The other costs incurred at the time of the Offering were judged to be related 
to the setup of the Company and acquiring an exchange listing.  

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.  
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• The estimation that the fair values of the Sponsor Shares, Units and Sponsor Warrants at initial 
recognition was equal to their issue prices. 

• The estimation of the proportion of the fair value of the Units at initial recognition attributable to 
the Warrants.  This was determined using a Level 3 binomial option pricing model valuation, adjusted 
for the probability of a successful Business Combination.  In addition to the Unit fair value, the key 
judgemental inputs into this model were the projected volatility of the Ordinary Share price over the 
five-year, post Business Combination exercise period of the Warrants and the probability of 
successful competing a Business Combination. Further details are given in note 5.2 below. 

• The judgement that, despite being separately listed on the Euronext Amsterdam exchange, the 
quoted price of the Warrants at 31 December 2021 did not give a valid representation of their fair 
value due to a lack of liquidity in the instrument.  A Level 3 binomial option pricing model valuation, 
adjusted for the probability of a successful Business Combination, was therefore used to estimate 
their fair value. The key judgemental inputs into this model were the Ordinary Share fair value at 31 
December 2021, the projected volatility of the Ordinary Shares price over the five-year, post 
Business Combination, exercise period of the Warrants and the probability of successful competing 
a Business Combination. Further details are given in note 5.2 below. 

• The judgement that there was no comparable quoted instrument to the Sponsor Warrants at 31 
December 2021.  A Level 3 binomial option pricing model valuation, adjusted for the probability of 
a successful Business Combination, was therefore used to estimate their fair value. The key 
judgemental inputs into this model were the Ordinary Share fair value at 31 December 2021, the 
projected volatility of the Ordinary Shares price over the five-year, post Business Combination, 
exercise period of the Sponsor Warrants and the probability of successful competing a Business 
Combination. Further details are given in note 5.3 below. 

• The judgement that there was sufficient liquidity in the Ordinary Shares at 31 December 2021 that 
their quoted price on the Euronext Amsterdam exchange was an accurate indication of their fair 
value.  This fair value was a key input into the 31 December 2021 valuation models used for the 
Warrants and Sponsor Warrants.   

• In relation to deferred tax, the directors consider the generation of future taxable profit, against 
which the Company can utilise tax the losses incurred, is too uncertain so no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of these tax losses. 

4. Financial risk management 

The Company manages the financial risks relating to the operations through internal risk controls and 
meetings which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These financial risks might include 
principally market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 

The Company's risk management objectives and policies are also consistent with those disclosed in the 
Prospectus. 

Market risk management 
The Company is primarily exposed to the financial risks of changes to interest rates which effect the 
interest charged or credited on the Escrow Account.  These charges are based on the daily Euro Short-
term Rate (€STR) set by the European Central Bank. There are no measures in place to mitigate this risk. 

If the €STR had been 5 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
loss for the period ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by €0.05 million. 

The Company is also exposed to movements in the market value of its Ordinary Shares which are inputs 
in the valuation models for the Sponsor Warrants and, until there is increased their market liquidity, the 
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Warrants. There are no measures in place to mitigate this risk. Once the liquidity in the Warrants is 
sufficient that the quoted price can be used to establish their fair value, the Company will also be exposed 
to movements in the Warrant price. There are no measures in place to mitigate this risk. 

If the closing Ordinary Share price on 31 December had been €0.05 higher/lower and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the period ended 31 December 2021 would increase/decrease by 
€0.2 million. 

During the Period, there has been no change to the Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in 
which these risks are managed and measured. 

Liquidity risk management 
The Company’s liquidity needs have been satisfied through receipt of the €10.5 million proceeds from 
the sale of Sponsor Warrants shortly after the settlement of the Offering which, after payment of the 
negative interest cover, company set-up and Offering costs, left cash available in the current account of 
€3.0 million for the ongoing operation of the Company. 

While the Company expects that it will have enough funds available to operate until the Business 
Combination deadline, it may sell up to 2 million additional Sponsor Warrants to the Sponsor at a price 
of €1.50 each to raise up to €3 million of additional capital, provided that such issuance is done for a 
legitimate business purpose. There is no obligation on the Sponsor to acquire additional Sponsor 
Warrants. 

Credit risk management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Company. 

100% of the Offering proceeds plus the €2 million of Interest Cover have been put into the Escrow Account 
opened by the Foundation and held with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. in the Netherlands. The chance of default of 
this bank is deemed very low based on the following credit ratings as at 31 December 2021: A1 (Moody’s), 
A (S&P), and A (Fitch) long term credit ratings and P-1 (Moody’s), A-1 (S&P), and F1 (Fitch) short term 
credit ratings. 

The Company has also entered into an Escrow Agreement with a professional escrow agent (Intertrust 
Escrow and Settlements B.V.) to monitor and manage the Escrow Account. 

The cash used to fund the operational costs of CTCA1 is also held in a current account at ABN AMRO Bank 
N.V. 

5. Share capital and warrants 

As the Company is a company incorporated as a private company with limited liability under the laws of 
the Netherlands, the Company is not required to have, and does not have, an authorised share capital.  

The Company has two classes of share capital, Sponsor Shares and Ordinary Shares, each with a nominal 
value of €0.01 per share.  

The company has issued two types of warrants, Sponsor Warrants and Warrants, details of which are 
given below.  

The Ordinary Shares and Warrants are listed and traded on Euronext Amsterdam.  The Sponsor Shares 
and Sponsor Warrants are not listed or publicly traded.  

The Ordinary Shares and Warrants were combined in a “Unit” for the Offering with each Unit entitling 
the holder to one Ordinary Share and one-third of a Warrant. From the first day of trading on 30 June 
2021 until 3 August 2021 only Units were listed and traded on the Euronext Amsterdam. On the 4 August 
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2021 the Units split into the underlying Ordinary Shares and Warrants which have been separately listed 
and traded since. 

The Sponsor Shares will convert into Ordinary Shares on a one for one basis upon the successful 
completion of a Business Combination. 

Each Sponsor Warrant and Warrant entitles the holders to subscribe for one Ordinary Share at a price of 
€11.50 during a period starting 30 days after the completion of a Business Combination and ending on 
the fifth anniversary of the Business Combination or, in the case of the Warrants, earlier upon redemption 
under certain conditions. 

Full details of the terms and conditions of the Sponsor Shares, Ordinary Shares, Sponsor Warrants and 
Warrants can be found in the Prospectus.  

The Sponsor Shares are accounted for as equity as the Company has no contractual obligation to pay cash 
to holders of those shares and there are no contractual redemption rights. 

The Units (and the Ordinary Shares underlying the Units) issued in the Offering are accounted for in 
accordance with the guidance contained in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. IAS 32 provides 
that the Company’s financial instruments shall be classified on initial recognition in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability or an equity 
instrument. Accordingly, the Company has classified each Unit (and the Ordinary Shares underlying the 
Unit) as a financial liability. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments provides that at initial recognition, financial 
liabilities are measured at fair value. After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not derivatives 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Accordingly, the Company has initially recognised each 
Unit as a financial liability at its fair value and will subsequently measure the portion of each Unit 
attributed to the Ordinary Share (or the Ordinary Share after the Unit has split) at amortised cost. The 
treatment of the portion of each Unit attributed to the Warrant is explained below. 

The Warrants issued in connection with the Offering and the Sponsor Warrants purchased by the Sponsor 
are accounted for in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. IAS 32 provides that the 
Company’s financial instruments shall be classified on initial recognition in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial liability or an equity instrument. 
Accordingly, the Company has classified each Warrant and Sponsor Warrant as a derivative financial 
liability. IFRS 9 Financial instruments provides that at initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured 
at fair value. After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are derivatives are subsequently measured 
at fair value. The Warrants and Sponsor Warrants are therefore subject to re-measurement at each 
balance sheet date. With each such re-measurement, the Warrant and Sponsor Warrant liability will be 
adjusted to fair value, with the change in fair value recognised in the Company’s profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  

The Units, Ordinary Shares, Warrants and Sponsor Warrants are subject to derecognition when, and only 
when, the financial liability is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

  



 

47  

5.1. Sponsor Shares 

Issued and fully paid Number  Share capital 
Period ending 31 December 2021  

 €'000 
At incorporation on 29 April 2021 100   -  
Issued on 19 May 2021 5,056,136   51  
Issued on 21 May 2021 40,000  - 
Issued on 27 May 2021 25,000  - 
Cancelled on 20 August 2021 (380,986)  (4) 
Issued at 31 December 2021 4,740,250   47  

The Company commissioned an expert valuation of the Sponsor Shares which concluded that, due to the 
significant remaining risks associated with completing the Offering and a Business Combination at the time 
the Sponsor Shares were issued, the fair value of the Sponsor Shares at issue was equal to their issue price 
of €0.01 per share. 

5.2. Units, Ordinary Shares and Warrants 

Issued and fully paid    
   

Period ending 31 December 2021  Number   Financial liability 
 Units Ordinary 

Shares Warrants 
 

 Ordinary 
Shares Warrants 

 '000 '000 '000  €'000 €'000 
At incorporation on 29 April 2021 -  -  -   -  -  
Issued and repurchased on 29 June 2021  195,700  33,700   -  -  
Units issued on 2 July 2021 in Offering 19,000    

 182,400  7,600  
Units cancelled on 9 July 2021 (39)   

 (374) (16) 
Units "split" on 4 August 2021 (18,961) 18,961  6,320     
Issue costs (Ordinary Shares)     (3,185) -  
Effective interest (Ordinary Shares)    

 2,656  -  
Fair value adjustment (Warrants)    

 -  316  
At 31 December 2021 -  214,661  40,020   181,497  7,900  

The Ordinary Shares are classified as a financial liability and therefore measured at fair value at initial 
recognition then subsequently at amortised cost. 

The Sponsor Warrants are classified as a derivative financial liability and therefore measured at fair value 
both at initial recognition and subsequently, with the change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. 

In the Offering, institutional investors subscribed on an arm’s length basis for Units, where each Unit 
comprised of one Ordinary Share and one third of a Warrant, at €10 per each. The Company considers this 
to be the combined fair value of one Ordinary Share and one third of Warrant at initial recognition.  

To allocate the initial €10 fair value of a Units between the Ordinary Shares and Warrants a binomial 
option pricing model valuation, adjusted for the probability of a successful Business Combination, was 
used as there were no comparable quoted financial instruments to the Ordinary Shares and Warrants. 
This valuation implied initial fair values of €9.60 for an Ordinary Share and €1.20 for a Warrant (€0.40 for 
one third of a Warrant). 
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The key inputs to this valuation were as follows: 

Fair value of a Unit €10.00 
Volatility 40% 
Business Combination success probability 50% 

The volatility of 40% was selected as this is the percentage implied form the cashless conversion rates set 
out in the Prospectus should the Company choose to redeem the Warrants during the exercise period 
when the price of an Ordinary Share equals or exceeds €10.00. 

The Business Combination success probability of 50% is the directors prudent estimate of completing a 
business combination. 

The sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the variable inputs are as follows: 

Input Sensitivity Ord. Share value Warrant value 
Volatility +/-10% -€0.08/+€0.10 -1%/+1% +€0.25/-€0.29 +21%/-24% 
BC success probability +/-10% -€0.08/+€0.08 -1%/+1% +€0.24/-€0.24 +20%/-20% 

As the lowest level significant input in the Ordinary Share and Warrant valuation on initial recognition is 
unobservable, these are both Level 3 valuations. 

The incremental direct issue costs of the Units have been proportioned between the Ordinary Shares and 
the Warrants based on their respective fair values at initial recognition. The directors consider that the 
only incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of the Units were the underwriting fees. The 
underwriting fees attributed to the Ordinary Shares have been debited to the corresponding financial 
liability. The underwriting fees attributed to the Warrants has been included in finance expenses in the 
period (see note 9).  

From 4 August 2021, the Ordinary Shares and Warrants have been separately listed and traded on 
Euronext Amsterdam however, due to the lack of liquidity in the Warrants during the period to 31 
December 2021, the quoted price did not provide a reliable indication of the fair value of the Warrants 
at the year end. Therefore, a binomial option pricing model valuation, adjusted for the probability of a 
successful Business Combination, was used to determine the fair value of the Warrants of €1.25. 

The key inputs to this valuation were as follows: 

Quoted price of an Ordinary Share on 31 December 2021 €9.73 
Volatility 40% 
Business Combination success probability 50% 

The sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the variable inputs are as follows: 

Input Sensitivity Warrant value 
Volatility +/-10% +€0.25/-€0.30 +20%/-24% 
Business Combination success probability +/-10% +€0.25/-€0.25 +20%/-20% 

As the lowest level significant input in this valuation is unobservable, this is a Level 3 valuation. 
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5.3. Sponsor Warrants 

Period ending 31 December 2021 Number 
FV per 

warrant 
Financial 
liability 

  € €'000 
At incorporation on 29 April 2021 -   -  
Issued on 2 July 2021 6,770,834  €1.500 (10,156) 
Issued on 20 August 2021 197,565  €1.500 (296) 
Increase in fair value -   (279)  
At 31 December 2021 6,968,399  €1.540 (10,731) 

As part of the Offering, the Sponsor committed to purchase 6,968,399 Sponsor Warrants from the 
Company at a price of €1.50 each to provide €10.5 million to cover up to €2 million of negative interest 
on the Escrow Account deposit and cover costs related to the Offering and the search for a Business 
Combination target. The Sponsor Warrants are not publicly traded.   

The Sponsor Warrants are classified as a derivative financial liability and therefore measured at fair value 
both at initial recognition and subsequently, with the change in fair value being recognised in profit or 
loss. On issue, the directors estimated the fair value to be €1.50 as this was the arm’s length price at 
which the Sponsor Warrants were issued to the Sponsor. At 31 December 2021, the fair value of the 
Sponsor Warrants was estimated to be €1.54 using a binomial option pricing model valuation, adjusted 
for the probability of a successful Business Combination, as there is no comparable quoted financial 
instrument. 

The key inputs to this valuation were as follows: 

Quoted price of an Ordinary Share on 31 December 2021 €9.73 
Volatility 40% 
Business Combination success probability 50% 

The sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the variable inputs are as follows: 

Input Sensitivity Sponsor Warrant value 
Volatility +/-10% +€0.45/-€0.47 +29%/-31% 
Business Combination success probability +/-10% +€0.31/-€0.31 +20%/-20% 

As the lowest level significant input in this valuation is unobservable, this is a Level 3 valuation. 

5.4. Ordinary Shares and Warrants in treasury 

On 29 June 2021 the Company issued and immediately repurchased 195,700,000 Ordinary Shares and 
33,700,000 Warrants at the same value of €1,957,000 for the purpose of holding these in treasury. As 
long as these Ordinary Shares and Warrants are held in treasury they will not yield dividends, will not 
entitle the holders to voting rights, and will not count towards the calculation of dividends, voting 
percentages or repurchase/liquidation rights. The Ordinary Shares held in treasury are fully paid, 
admitted to listing and trading on Euronext Amsterdam, and held in treasury for the purpose of allotting 
these Ordinary Shares to investors (including conversion of Sponsor Shares) around the time of the 
Business Combination and when Warrants are exercised. The Warrants will be admitted to listing and 
trading on Euronext Amsterdam and held in treasury to keep the option open for the Company to raise 
additional capital in connection with the pursuit of a Business Combination in case necessary. 
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6. Administrative expenses 

 Period to 
 31 December 

2021 
 €'000 

Setup and listing costs 2,140  
Directors' fees 206  
Social security on directors’ fees 14 
Other expenses 318  
Total Administrative expenses 2,678  

7. Auditor’s fees 

Administrative expenses include €125,500 of external audit fees. These comprise €44,800 for the audit of 
the financial statements and €80,700 for other audit procedures performed in relation to the Prospectus. 

8. Employees 

Apart from directors, the Company has no employees and currently has no intension to hire any 
employees prior to a Business Combination. 

9. Finance income and costs 

 
 Period to 

  31 December 
2021 

 Notes €'000 
Finance income   

Gain on trading during post Offering stabilisation period  16  
Finance income  16  
Finance costs   
Underwriting fees on issue of Units 5.2 (3,318) 
Underwriting fees debited to Ordinary Share financial liability 5.2 3,185  
Underwriting fees attributed to Warrants 5.2 (133) 
Negative interest on the Escrow Account  (542) 
Negative interest on bank current account  (12) 
Total negative interest  (554)  
Effective interest on Ordinary Share financial liability  (2,656) 
Fair value adjustment to Warrants 5.2 (316) 
Fair value adjustment to Sponsor Warrants 5.3 (279) 
Finance costs expensed  (3,938) 

 
   

Net finance costs  (3,922)  

The effective interest rate on the Ordinary Share financial liability for the period was 2.93%. 
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10. Income tax 

 Period to 

 
31 December 

2021 

 €'000 
Current tax  
Current tax on profits for the period -  
Total current tax expense -  

  
Reconciliation of income tax expense calculated using statutory tax rate 
Profit before tax (6,600)  

  
Tax at the Netherlands tax rate of 25% 1,650 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/taxable in calculating taxable income: 
Expenses not deductible for tax (846)  
Unrecognised tax losses carried forward (804) 
Total income tax expense -  
 
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses as the directors consider the 
generation of future taxable profit, against which the Company can utilise tax these losses, is too 
uncertain. 

11. Earnings per share 

As there was minimal activity in the Company between incorporation on 29 April 2021 and the Offering 
on 29 June 2021, the period 29 June to 31 December 2021 has been used for the weighted average share 
number calculations. 

Basic loss per share -€0.281 
Diluted loss per share -€0.281 
 

 €'000 
Net loss for the period attributable to shareholders (6,600)  
 

 Number 
Weighted average number of shares used in calculations  
Basic 23,503,407  
Diluted 23,503,407  

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average number 
of shares in issue during the period. 

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to 
assume conversion of all dilutive potential issuable shares. Where the inclusion of potentially issuable 
shares decreases the loss per share (anti-dilutive), the potentially issuable shares have not been 
included. 
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Weighted average number of shares calculations – basic and diluted Number 
Shares in issued just prior to the Offering on 29 June 2021 5,121,236  
Weighted average number of shares issued between 29 June and 31 Dec. 2021 18,693,548  
Weighted average number of shares cancelled between 29 June and 31 Dec. 2021 (311,377) 
Weighted average number of shares in issue in the period 23,503,407  
Effect of potentially issuable shares which are not anti-dilutive -  
Weighted average number of diluted shares for the period 23,503,407  

The weighted average number of potentially issuable shares from conversion of issued Warrants and 
Sponsor Warrants not included in the diluted share calculation because they were anti-dilutive is 
13,022,840. 

12. Other receivables 

Other receivables of €268k at 31 December 2021 relates to value added tax receivable. 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
31 December 

2021 

 €'000 
Cash at bank 2,370  
Cash in escrow 191,344  
Total cash and cash equivalents 193,433  

Cash at bank is the amount in the Company’s current account held at ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 

The €189.61 million proceeds of the Offering along with €2.0 million of Negative Interest Cover were 
deposited in the Escrow Account held by the Foundation. The amounts will be released only in 
accordance with the terms of an escrow agreement between the Company, the Escrow Agent and the 
Foundation. As such the cash deposited in the Escrow Account is restricted and not freely available to 
the Company. 

The Escrow Account is subject to the Euro Short-Term Rate (€STR) for the first 12 months from the 
settlement on 2 July 2021 and then €EST less 0.05% thereafter. In the period from settlement to 31 
December 2021 the €EST was between negative 0.562% and negative 0.590%. 

14. Other payables 

 
31 December 

2021 

 €'000 
Employee benefit obligations   6  
Accrued interest 280 
Other accruals 121  
Total other payables 407  
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15. Commitments 

As part of the Offering process the Company entered into contracts with various advisors. These 
contracts include additional fees of €6.2 million (of which €5.7 million relates to additional underwriting 
fees) contingent on the successful completion of a Business Combination. 

16. Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared by CTCA1 in the Period. 

17. Related party transactions 

Remuneration of key management personnel 
The Executive and Non-executive Directors are the key management personnel of the Group. Their 
aggregate remunerations during the period, which consisted solely of short-term employee benefits, were 
as follows: 

 

Short-term 
employee 
benefits 

Executive Directors € 175,666 
Non-executive Directors € 81,875 

 € 257,541 

The Sponsor 
The Sponsor (Climate Transition Sponsor I LLP) holds 19.73% of the issued share capital of the Company 
and the following Directors are members in entities which are members of the Sponsor. 

Director Position 
Sponsor Shares held 

via Sponsor 

 Sponsor 
Warrants held 

via Sponsor 
  Number % *  Number 
David Buzby Executive Director 437,501 1.8%  573,963 
Robin Duggan Executive Director 256,974 1.1%  337,128 
Joris Rademakers Executive Director 120,945 0.5%  158,669 
David Crane Non-executive Director 302,317 1.3%  396,613 
Shaun Kingsbury Non-executive Director 237,477 1.0%  311,549 

The Sponsor is therefore considered to be a related party. 

On 29 April 2021 the Sponsor subscribed for 100 Sponsor Shares for cash at an issue price of €0.01 on 
incorporation of the Company. 

On the 19 May 2021, the Sponsor subscribed for 5,056,136 additional Sponsor Shares for cash at an issue 
price of €0.01. 

On 2 July the Sponsor acquired 6,770,834 Sponsor Warrants from the Company for a consideration of 
€10,156,251. 

On 20 August 2021 the Sponsor acquired 197,565 Sponsor Warrants from the Company for a 
consideration of €296,348. 

On 20 August 2021 380,986 Sponsor Shares were cancelled and €3,810 refunded to the Sponsor. 
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Climate Transition Capital LLP (“CTC LLP”) 
Prior to the Business Combination, CTC LLP, of which Robin Duggan (Executive Director) is a designated 
member, is entitled to periodical payments of service fees by the Company via a consultancy agreement 
between CTC LLP and the Company for administrative, IT and support services provided by CTC LLP to the 
Company during the set-up and Offering process and subsequently to (eventually) identify potential target 
businesses for the Company (the “Service Fees”). The Service Fees charged during the period were €58k 
in respect of the set-up and IPO process and €106k for ongoing support since the Offering. 

18. Events occurring after the reporting period 

The military invasion by Russia of Ukraine on 24 February 2022 has resulted in significant volatility in the 
financial markets and could further adversely affect economies and financial markets internationally, 
including throughout Europe. The extent to which this impacts the search for a Business Combination is 
discussed in the Business Environment on page 10 of this Annual Report.   
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Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2021 after appropriation of result 
 
  31 December 

2021 
 Notes €'000 

Assets   

Current assets    
Other receivables 3 191,612  
Cash and cash equivalents  2,370  
Total current assets  193,982  
Total assets  193,982  

   
Equity   

Share capital 4 47  
Retained earnings  (6,600)  
Total equity  (6,553) 
Liabilities   
Non-current Liabilities   

Ordinary Shares subsequently measured at amortised cost 4 181,497  
Warrants measured at FVTPL1 4 7,900 
Sponsor Warrants measured at FVTPL1 4 10,731 
Total non-current liabilities  200,128  
Current Liabilities   

Other payables 5 407  
Total current liabilities  407  
Total liabilities  200,535  
Total equity and liabilities  193,982  
 
The above company statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
Notes to the Company Financial Statements. 
 
1 FVTPL – fair value through profit or loss 
 
These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26 April 
2022. They were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Mr. David Buzby    Mr. Robin Duggan    Mr. Joris Rademakers 
Executive Director   Executive Director   Executive Director 
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Company Statement of Profit or Loss 
For the period from incorporation on 29 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 
 
  Period to 

  
31 December 

2021 
  €'000 

   
Administrative expenses  (2,678) 
Operating loss  (2,678) 
Finance income  16  
Finance costs  (3,938)  
Net finance costs  (3,922)  
Loss before tax  (6,600) 
Income tax expense  -  
Loss for the period  (6,600) 
 
There is no difference between the line items in Company Statement of Profit or Loss and the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income so the former should be read 
in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements referenced in the latter. 
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements 

1. General 

The company financial statements are part of the consolidated financial statements of Climate Transition 
Capital Acquisition I B.V. 

2. Basis of preparation 

The Company financial statements of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. have been prepared in 
accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. In accordance with article 362 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code, the Company financial statements are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated 
financial statements as set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The company financial statements of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. should be read in 
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Other receivables 

 
31 December 

2021 

 €'000 
VAT receivable 268  
Receivable from Stichting Climate Transition Capital Escrow 191,344  
Total other receivables 191,612  

The proceeds of the Offering plus €2 million of negative interest cover have been deposited in a bank 
account held by the Stichting Climate Transition Capital Escrow (the “Foundation”). These amounts will 
only be released in accordance with the terms of an escrow agreement between the Company, Intertrust 
Escrow and Settlements B.V. and the Foundation. 

The Company eliminates any expected credit losses on intercompany loans or receivables against the 
book value of the intercompany loan or receivable in accordance with Directive 100.107a of the Dutch 
Accounting Standards Board. 

4. Share capital and warrants 

Details of the Company’s share capital and warrants and their accounting treatment is fully explained in 
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

5. Other payables 

 
31 December 

2021 

 €'000 
Employee benefit obligations   6  
Accrued interest 280 
Other accruals 121  
Total other payables 407  

6. Related party transactions 

Details of related party transactions are included Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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7. Events occurring after the reporting period 

Details of events occurring after the reporting period are included Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  
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Other Information 

Shareholder Information 

Registrar services  

Queries in relation to shareholdings through Euronext should be directed to the Company’s Euronext 
Listing and Paying Agent, ABN AMRO Bank N.V. who can be contacted at 
as.exchange.agency@nl.abnamro.com .  

Website 

Shareholders are encouraged to visit our website, which has further information about the Company and 
the Climate Transition Capital mission and team. https://climatetransitioncapital.com/  

There is a section on our website designed specifically for CTCA1 investors. It includes press releases, 
reports (including this Annual Report), and other Company documents. 
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/  

Financial calendar 

30 June 2022 Annual General Meeting 

September 2022 Announcement of 2022 interim results 

31 December 2022 2022 financial year end 

April 2023 Announcement of 2023 results 

For updates to the calendar during the year, please visit the CTCA1 website page: 
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/ 

Company Information 

Phone: +31 20 262 02 30  
Email: info@climatetransitioncapital.com  
Address: Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. 

Basisweg 10  
1043 AP Amsterdam 
The Netherlands 

Independent Auditor 

Deloitte Accountants B.V. 
Corporate advisers  

Principal bankers: ABN AMRO Bank N.V.  
Euronext listing and paying agent: ABN AMRO Bank N.V.  

Solicitors: Allen & Overy LLP 
Escrow agent: InterTrust Escrow & Settlements B.V. 
Company administrators: InterTrust (Netherlands) B.V. 

mailto:as.exchange.agency@nl.abnamro.com
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/
https://climatetransitioncapital.com/investor-resources/
mailto:info@climatetransitioncapital.com


 

 

 Deloitte Accountants B.V. 
Gustav Mahlerlaan 2970 
1081 LA Amsterdam 
P.O. Box 58110 
1040 HC Amsterdam 
The Netherlands 
 
Tel: +31 (0)88 288 2888 
Fax: +31 (0)88 288 9924 
www.deloitte.nl 
 

Independent auditor's report 

To the shareholders and the Board of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021 INCLUDED IN 
THE ANNUAL REPORT  

Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 2021 of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V., based in 
Amsterdam. The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements and the Company 
financial statements. 

In our opinion: 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. as at December 31, 2021, and of its result 
and its cash flows for the period from April 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with 
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

• The accompanying Company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. as at 31 December 2021, and of its result for the 
period from April 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

1. The consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021. 

2. The following statements for the period from April 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021: the consolidated 
statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows.  

3. The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

The financial statements comprise: 

1. The Company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021. 

2. The Company statement of profit or loss for the period from April 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021. 

3. The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Deloitte Accountants B.V. is registered with the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry in Rotterdam number 
24362853. Deloitte Accountants B.V. is a Netherlands affiliate of Deloitte NWE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited. 
 



 

 

Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements" section of our report. 

We are independent of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation 
on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, the Wet touch 
accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid 
van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation 
with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. 
Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, 
Dutch Code of Ethics). 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Emphasize of Matter on Material uncertainty related to going concern 

The Board has assessed the going concern assumption, as part of the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements, and disclosed this in the Financial Statements (note 2.2 Going Concern). The Board 
states that if the Company does not complete a business combination within 24 months after the 
settlement of the offering (July 2, 2023), the Ordinary Shares and Warrants will be delisted and the 
company must be dissolved and liquidated. The Board indicates this is a material uncertainty, which may 
cast significant doubt about the ability to continue as a going concern. 

We have obtained this management’s assessment. As part of our procedures, we have evaluated the 
Company’s budget and considered the fact that upon preparation of the financial statement no proposed 
Business Combination has been agreed nor communicated. This management assessment indicates the 
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

We have outlined the responsibilities of the Board and ourselves in the “Description of responsibilities 
regarding the financial statements” section further below. 

Emphasis of Matter on Uncertainty of Valuation of Warrants 

In disclosure note 5.2 and 5.3 management elaborated on the valuation of the Warrants and the 
Sponsor Warrants. The absence of active market data requires management to calculate the value of the 
instruments based on a mathematical valuation model. The model applied is common and general 
accepted valuation methodology used for the valuation of these financial instruments. Management has 
added sensitivity analyses on the impact of the main assumptions that are used as input variable in a 
valuation model. From the sensitivity analyses as disclosed by management it appears that the values of 
the warrants are highly sensitive to the variation of particularly two assumptions;  

- The estimated chance of successfully completing a business combination; and  
- The volatility of the associated underlying instrument. 

Both assumptions however are inherently uncertain. The chance of completing a business combination is 
uncertain until negotiations with one or more candidates are sufficiently advanced and is ultimately 
dependent upon the approval of the Shareholders. The volatility associated with the underlying 
candidate typically would vary with the market the candidates are operating in and ultimately on the 
actual development of the share price after the business combination. Until a business combination 
candidate is proposed, no objective data on the volatility is therefore available.  

The outcome of the valuation based on the calculation, can be different from the price for which the 
Warrants are traded around December 31, 2021. This is due to the inherent uncertainties on the main 



 

 

variables as included in the valuation, combined with absence of more objective information that can be 
used by market participants and the Company when performing the valuation of the Warrants and the 
limited volumes traded. The value of the SPAC is particularly derived from the cash that is available for 
the business combination and from the valuation of the target company. The value of the Warrants will 
be primarily relevant after a business combination. In case no business combination is realized the value 
of the Warrants will be zero.  

Based on the sensitivities calculated by management, the valuation can be EUR 9.3 million higher or 
EUR 7.3 million lower than the value estimated in the financial statements, with corresponding fair value 
change through profit and loss. Our opinion is not modified in this respect. 

Information in support of our opinion 

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and 
in forming our opinion thereon. The following information in support of our opinion was addressed in this 
context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters. 

Materiality 

Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole at € 1.937.000. The materiality is based on 1% of the Company’s total assets. We have also taken 
into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users 
of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. 

We agreed with the Board that misstatements in excess of € 96.850, which are identified during the 
audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on 
qualitative grounds.  

Scope of the group audit 

Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial 
information of this group is included in the consolidated financial statements of Climate Transition 
Capital Acquisition I B.V. 

We have performed audit procedures on both Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. and Stichting 
Climate Transition Capital Escrow. 

By performing the procedures mentioned above, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence about the group's financial information to provide an opinion about the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Audit approach fraud risks 

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud. 
During our audit we obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment and the system of 
internal control, including: 

• the risk assessment process; 
• management’s process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring the system of 

internal control; 
• how the Non-Executives exercise oversight. 

We also obtained understanding of the outcomes of these processes. Note that the company is a Special 
Purpose Acquisition Company.  The Board of the company is pursuing a business combination (only). By 
result it has no (or only limited) business activities.  

In the context of the activities of the entity, we have evaluated the design and implementation of the 
system of internal control and in particular the fraud risk assessment. We evaluated fraud risk factors 
with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption. 



 

 

Particularly, we have evaluated all transactions on the escrow account in relation to the offering circular. 
We evaluated the design and the implementation of internal controls designed to mitigate fraud risks.  

In connection with the presumed risks of financial statement fraud, we considered fraud in relation to 
management override of controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the 
Executives in the Board. Our procedures include an assessment of the selection and application of 
accounting policies by the group, particularly those related to subjective measurements and complex 
transactions, as these may be indicative of fraudulent financial reporting. With respect to the element of 
bias, we evaluated whether the judgments and decisions made by management in making the 
accounting estimates included in the financial statements represent a risk of fraudulent material 
misstatement. We tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other 
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements. 

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We also considered the outcome of our other 
audit procedures and evaluated whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance. For 
significant transactions we evaluated whether the business rationale of the transactions suggests that 
they may have been entered into to engage in fraudulent financial reporting or to conceal 
misappropriation of assets.  

We made inquiries with management, those charged with governance and with others within the 
Company. We refer to section “Risks and Uncertainties” of the Directors’ Report for management’s fraud 
risk assessment. We obtained written representations that all known instances of (suspected) fraud and 
other irregularities have been disclosed to us. 

Management insights, estimates and assumptions that might have a major impact on the financial 
statements are disclosed in note 3 of the financial statements.  

Our procedures did not lead to indications for fraud potentially resulting in material misstatements. 

Audit approach risks of compliance with laws and regulations 

We assessed the laws and regulations relevant to the Company through discussion with the Executive 
Directors and Non-Executive Directors and reading minutes. 

As a result of our risk assessment procedures, and while realizing that the effects from non-compliance 
could considerably vary, we considered the following laws and regulations: adherence to (corporate) tax 
law and financial reporting regulations, the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code with 
a direct effect on the financial statements as an integrated part of our audit procedures, to the extent 
material for the related financial statements.  We obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding provisions of those laws and regulations generally recognized to have a direct effect on the 
financial statements. 

Apart from these, the Group is subject to other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on amounts and/or disclosures in the financial statements, for 
instance, through imposing fines or litigation.  

Our procedures are more limited with respect to laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on 
the determination of the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Compliance with these 
laws and regulations may be fundamental to the operating aspects of the business, to the Group's ability 
to continue its business, or to avoid material penalties and therefore non-compliance with such laws and 
regulations may have a material effect on the financial statements. Our responsibility is limited to 
undertaking specified audit procedures to help identify non-compliance with those laws and regulations 
that may have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Our procedures are limited to (i) inquiry of the Board and others within Company as to whether the 
Company is in compliance with such laws and regulations and (ii) inspecting correspondence, if any, with 
the relevant licensing or regulatory authorities to help identify non-compliance with those laws and 
regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements. 



 

 

Naturally, we remained alert to indications of (suspected) non-compliance throughout the audit.  

Finally, we obtained written representations that all known instances of (suspected) fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations have been disclosed to us. 

Our key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the Board. The 
key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code and 
Special Purpose 
Acquisition 
Companies 

The Company is a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (“SPAC”) aiming to 
consummate a Business Combination with a target company. The Company is 
not a business in the traditional sense and has no employees. The Company has 
a limited lifetime and a very specific capital structure with a number of classes of 
shares and other financial instruments. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code is 
applicable for all Dutch entities of which the shares are listed on regulated 
markets. The code comprises of best practices of the way the responsibilities of 
shareholders, management and oversight boards can be organised contributing 
to long term value creation, risk management and relations with other 
stakeholders. Based upon the Company’s specific business, a number of best 
practices are not applicable. Furthermore, the Dutch Corporate Governance Code 
is aimed at two-tier board systems. The Company has a one-tier board. The 
Non-Executive Directors are responsible for independent oversight, but have 
short term financial incentives in the Company similar to Executive Directors. 
The Non-Executive directors are valuable for the Company as a result of their 
knowledge, experience in relevant industries, corporate governance, certain 
types of transactions and relationships and networks. As a consequence of this, 
there may be a threat of their independence and/or a conflict of interest when 
identifying targets or in subsequent negotiations. The Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code includes best practices in connection with the information to 
shareholders. Within Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. the Sponsor 
has 19.73% of the voting rights, so the level of information among the 
shareholders is not the same.  

How our audit 
responded to the key 
audit matter 

As part of our audit work we have reviewed paragraph Corporate Governance of 
the Annual Report where managements comply or explain with the Dutch 
Corporate Governance Code. Furthermore we have evaluated the implications of 
the deviations from the Dutch Corporate Governance Code in our evaluation on 
the internal control environment.  

In conjunction with the International Standard on Auditing 720 we compared the 
information with knowledge we obtained during our audit process. Furthermore 
we compared the information contained in the Corporate Governance paragraph 
with other parts of the financial statements for consistency. Note we have not 
performed audit procedures on the Board Report. 

Key observations Although the deviations from the Dutch Corporate Governance Code are 
numerous, we have not identified material inconsistencies between the 
Corporate Governance paragraph of the annual report and other parts of the 
annual report. Nor have we identified any deviations between the knowledge 
obtained during the audit and the relevant section of the annual report. It may 
be the case that if we had audited the information contained in the Director’s 
report we could have identified other matters. 

 



 

 

Impact of different 
classes of shares 

The Company has issued different classes of shares with corresponding different 
risks and rewards. The sponsors of the SPAC have put capital at risk to list the 
Ordinary Shares and to fund the search process to find a target to enter into a 
Business Combination. In return, the sponsors received Sponsor Shares and 
Sponsor Warrants. The Sponsor Shares give voting rights equal to the Ordinary 
Shares. The nominal value of the Sponsor Shares that has been paid up by the 
sponsors amounts to EUR 0.01 per share. Upon a successful Business 
Combination, the Sponsor Shares are converted to Ordinary Shares. Ordinary 
Shares have been issued within Units at EUR 10 for 1 Ordinary Share and 1/3 
Warrant. In case of a Business Combination, the holders of these shares can 
redeem. 

As at December 31, 2021, the Ordinary Shares traded for EUR 9.73 at Euronext. 
The difference in price has implications for the wealth generated for the holders 
of the various instruments upon the consummation of a Business Combination. 
For the sponsors, wealth is created in case the market value of the Ordinary 
Shares exceeds EUR 2.25. Ordinary Shareholders are not aligned with that. As a 
consequence of this, there is a threat of a conflict of interest when evaluating 
and/or valuing potential business combinations. 

The sponsors have agreed to a conditional lock-up as outlined in the Prospectus.  

How our audit 
responded to the key 
audit matter 

As part of our audit work we have reviewed disclosure note 5 (Share capital and 
warrants) of the financial statements detailing the main aspects of the 
instruments issued. We have traced and agreed the statements made within this 
paragraph to the underlying documentation of the instruments. Furthermore we 
have specifically evaluated the disclosure of the rights and interest of the 
Sponsor Shareholders and Public Shareholders. 

Key observations Although the risks and rewards between the sponsor shares and ordinary are 
substantially different, we have not identified inconsistencies between the 
Directors’ Report and other parts of the annual report. Nor have we identified 
any deviations between the knowledge obtained during the audit and the 
relevant section of the Directors’ Report. It may be the case that if we had 
audited the information contained in the Directors’ Report we could have 
identified other matters. 

 

Scope Definition, 
Classification and 
valuation of financial 
instruments 

The Company has issued various classes of shares and derivatives/Financial 
Instruments. Based on the principles of IFRS the Board has determined the 
relevant scope within IFRS and subsequent classification of the various financial 
instruments issued upon inception and at the IPO of the Company on 29 April 
2021.  

The classification relates to equity or liability presentation of the instruments. 
Based on the interpretation of the Board, the Ordinary Shares, the Warrants, and 
Sponsor Warrants are classified as liability. The Ordinary Shares are valued at 
amortized cost. The Warrants are publicly traded at Euronext.  



 

 

How our audit 
responded to the key 
audit matter 

In connection with the verification of the scope definition and classification of the 
instruments as at December 31, 2021, we have reviewed the position papers 
prepared by the Board in combination with the facts and circumstances and the 
principles of IAS 32 and IFRS 2. We have involved Deloitte IFRS experts. 

We have evaluated if the requirements for an active market are met, which is 
not present for the Warrants and consequently the value hereof is derived from a 
valuation model. A similar valuation model is applied for the Sponsor Warrants. 
For the valuation of the Ordinary Shares we have audited the calculation of the 
amortized cost. Most important management estimates impacting the amortized 
costs relate to the estimate of the lifetime of the entity that is used to gross up 
the liability. 

Key observations We concur with the presentation of the financial instruments based on our review 
of the position papers. With respect to the valuation of the Warrants and 
Sponsor Warrants we concur with the valuation based upon a level 3 input. For 
the Ordinary Shares we have verified the assumptions used for the valuation of 
the amortized cost.  

 

REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT  

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contain other 
information that consists of: 

• Directors’ Report. 

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information: 

• Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements. 

• Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our 
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information 
contains material misstatements. 

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the 
scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the Directors’ Report 
in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and the other information as required by 
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Engagement 

We were engaged by the supervisory board as auditor of Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. on 
April 29, 2021, as of the audit for the period from April 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021 and have 
operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial year. 

No prohibited non-audit services 

We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on 
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities. 



 

 

EUROPEAN SINGLE ELECTRONIC REPORTING FORMAT (ESEF) 

Climate Transition Capital Acquisition I B.V. has prepared its annual report in ESEF. The requirements 
for this are set out in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 with regard to regulatory 
technical standards on the specification of a single electronic reporting format (hereinafter the RTS on 
ESEF). 

In our opinion, the annual report, prepared in XHTML format, including the partially marked-up 
consolidated financial statements, as included in the reporting package by the group complies in all 
material aspects with the RTS of ESEF. 

Management is responsible for preparing the annual reporting including the financial statements in 
accordance with RTS on ESEF, whereby management combines the various components into a single 
reporting package. 

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance for our opinion whether the annual report in this 
reporting package complies with the RTS on ESEF. 

Our procedures, taking into account Alert 43 of the NBA (the Netherlands Institute of Chartered 
Accountants), included amongst others: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the Company’s financial reporting process, including the 
preparation of the reporting package; 

• Obtaining the reporting package and performing validations to determine whether the reporting 
package containing the Inline XBRL instance and the XBRL extension taxonomy files have been 
prepared in accordance with the technical specifications as included in the RTS on ESEF 

• Examining the information related to the consolidated financial statements in the reporting 
package to determine whether all required mark-ups have been applied and whether these are 
in accordance with the RTS on ESEF. 

DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is 
responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 
mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements. 

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient 
and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion. 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may 
not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit. 



 

 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 
 
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the 
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 
requirements. Our audit included among others: 

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting, 
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a Company to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures.  

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising 
and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit 
procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the 
group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to 
be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items. 

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that 
we identified during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional report to the audit committee 
in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit 
opinion in this auditor's report.       

We provide the Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board, we determine the key audit matters: those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters in our 
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 



 

 

extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest. 

Amsterdam, 26 April, 2022 

Deloitte Accountants B.V. 
J. Hendriks 
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